

Gary Cordner

Kutztown University

Elizabeth Beall Perkins

Morehead State University



This project was supported by Cooperative Agreement Number 2003-CK-WX-K055 awarded by the Office of Community Oriented Policing Services, U.S. Department of Justice. The opinions contained herein are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of the U.S. Department of Justice. References to specific agencies, companies, products, or services should not be considered an endorsement by the author(s) or the U.S. Department of Justice. Rather, the references are illustrations to supplement discussion of the issues.

The Internet references cited in this publication were valid as of the date of this publication. Given that URLs and websites are in constant flux, neither the author(s) nor the COPS Office can vouch for their current validity.

Copyright © 2013 Gary Cordner and Elizabeth Beall Perkins. The U.S. Department of Justice reserves a royalty-free, nonexclusive, and irrevocable license to reproduce, publish, or otherwise use, and authorize others to use, this publication for Federal Government purposes. This publication may be freely distributed and used for noncommercial and educational purposes only.

ISBN: 978-1-935676-53-9 e11126523 April 2013



U.S. Department of Justice
Office of Community Oriented Policing Services
145 N Street, N.E.
Washington, DC 20530
To obtain details on COPS Office programs, call the COPS Office

Response Center at 800.421.6770.

Visit COPS Online at www.cops.usdoj.gov.

Contents

Acknowledgments
Letter from the Director
Preface
Introduction4
Providing Information to the Community
Alerts and bulletins
Neighborhood information
Crime maps
Crime prevention and safety information
Information about the police department
Issues and considerations
Soliciting Information from the Community
Suspicious activity and neighborhood problems
Help with investigations
Complaints and commendations
General feedback
Issues and considerations
Providing Online Services
Filing a report
Paying a fee or fine
Registration and permits
Requesting police services
Applying for police employment
Issues and considerations
Engaging the Community
Conversation
Partnerships
Preventing crime
Detecting crime
Social networking
Issues and considerations
Problem Solving
Promoting problem solving
Identifying problems
Collaborating in problem solving
Issues and considerations
About the COPS Office

Acknowledgments

Several staff at the Justice & Safety Center at Eastern Kentucky University provided research assistance to this project, including Ryan Baggett, AnnMarie Cordner, and Valeriya Tsinman.

Law enforcement representatives who were particularly helpful included Lawrence Green (Oakland, California), Al Harper (Henrico County, Virginia), Roxanne Holt (Hurst, Texas), Jean Ritsema (Indianapolis, Indiana), Bettina Riley and Robert Stack (Lexington, Kentucky), and Tom Casady (Lincoln, Nebraska).

Guidance and assistance from Dennis Rosenbaum (University of Illinois at Chicago), Lois Frankel (National Center for Victims of Crime), and Mary Lou Leary (U.S. Department of Justice) were very valuable.

We are especially grateful for the suggestions provided by anonymous reviewers of the draft and for the guidance and encouragement provided by Matt Lysakowski and Debra R. Cohen McCullough, Ph.D., of the COPS Office, as well as for their understanding and patience.

1 Letter from the Director





Dear colleagues,

During our 2012 COPS Conference, we heard from many police practitioners using social media, online crime reporting, and other technologies leveraging the power of the Internet to accomplish a variety of objectives that supported a community policing philosophy. Sessions such as "Making the Most of New Technology" and "Budget-Conscious Alternatives to Police Service Delivery" highlighted the many ways the police are using technology to do more with less, efficiently and effectively—with no degradation of service to citizens and, in many cases, an improvement to service delivery. Since the conference, we've posted a podcast exploring the use of social media in law enforcement on the COPS Office web page, "The Beat," and published a series of Issue Briefs, including "Using Social Media to Market and Promote Public Safety Projects."

E-COP: *Using the Web to Enhance Community Oriented Policing* adds to the growing COPS Office library on electronic methods being used by police to solve crimes, engage their citizens in problem-solving efforts, and serve as a conduit of community partnership building, moving us evermore toward a collaborative era in policing. Chapters like "Providing Online Services" may give you new ideas on ways to use the Internet as a force-multiplier in policing service delivery. Furthermore, hyperlinks abound to increase this publication's usability.

In the way that citizens learn about their government and the police rely more and more on Internet-accessed information, it is not surprising that the Internet has increasingly become the means, and for many is the norm, by which they seek and expect to receive government and police services. This publication aims to describe the ways in which e-policing can support and enhance the philosophy and strategy of community oriented policing. We hope you will find it helpful in building and enhancing your agency's community policing strategy.

Sincerely,

Bernard K. Melekian, Director

Burand N. Molhoo

Office of Community Oriented Policing Services

Preface

The aim of this non-technical publication is to describe and illustrate the many ways that law enforcement agencies are using the Internet, websites, and other digital techniques to enhance their community policing efforts. A lot of examples are provided, but a lot of technical information is not. This publication will show examples that a police department may want to implement; however, readers will have to look elsewhere for the how-to part. Most agencies or their parent governments have this technical capability, so the bigger challenge, which this publication is meant to help address, is imagining what could be done.



While *E-COP* focuses heavily on police Internet and web applications, the line between these and other digital applications can be rather blurry, as smartphones and tablet devices illustrate. Thus, this publication highlights digital technologies beyond computers and websites that have the potential to enhance community policing. Mobile handheld computing, including smartphones, is an aspect of modern technology that is currently experiencing particularly rapid development and one that seems likely to have more and more implications for policing in the near future.

This intentionally brief publication does not provide an in-depth discussion about community policing because that can easily be located elsewhere. Nor does it provide 10 or 20 examples of each facet of e-policing. Rather, just a few interesting examples of each facet are presented. Again, the primary aim is to illustrate ways in which e-policing can support and enhance community policing, not to canvass every possible combination and permutation.

An important caveat is necessary: police agencies inevitably revise their homepages, web addresses change, and new digital innovations emerge. However, every effort has been made to ensure that the information and links in *E-COP* are up-to-date as of the moment of publication.

3 Preface

Also, this publication highlights a lot of examples of law enforcement agencies using the web to enhance their community policing efforts. However, considering that most of America's 18,000 law enforcement agencies now seem to have websites, perusing them all systematically and thoroughly is nearly impossible, not to mention assessing them for quality, innovativeness, or effectiveness. In the end, there may be websites and digital applications superior to the ones presented here, but the ones included in this publication are impressive and should provide helpful examples for many agencies to follow.

Furthermore, with funding from the COPS Office, project staff reviewed literature that addresses this subject matter, contacted a variety of experts, systematically examined websites of the largest police agencies in the country, followed up on leads and suggestions about innovative practices, and continuously monitored news items about police use of digital technologies.

A formal presentation made in 2008 at a national conference sponsored by the National Institute of Justice in Arlington, Virginia, produced additional observations and suggestions. Also, a focus group, held at Eastern Kentucky University with representatives from five law enforcement agencies, discussed issues and challenges associated with police use of the Internet to enhance community policing.²

Two excellent sources are the Office of Community Oriented Policing Services' publications library, http://ric-zai-inc.com/Publications/cops-p173-pub.pdf, and the Center for Problem-Oriented Policing, www.popcenter.org.

^{2.} Participants of the focus group, convened by Gary Cordner and Elizabeth Perkins, represented the Henrico County (Virginia) Police Department, Hurst (Texas) Police Department, Indianapolis (Indiana) Police Department, Lexington (Kentucky) Division of Police, and Oakland (California) Police Department.

Introduction

The pace with which electronic and digital technology have permeated modern policing has been remarkable. Some of this new digital technology has miniaturized what law enforcement agencies already could do, as in the case of police radios, or has sped up what they do, thanks to computers. More significant are those technologies that have allowed and encouraged police departments to revise their organizational strategies, policies, and routines.

For example, many police agencies originally took crime reports only in person, face to face. Then along came telephone reporting, and now a lot of agencies allow members of the public to file reports online. Many agencies also allow individuals to complete and submit job applications online as opposed to requiring them to visit headquarters in order to apply for a job with a department.

Furthermore, many police agencies used to refuse disseminating detailed crime information to the public. Often they would charge a fee to produce crime analysis reports for realty companies, lawyers, and others. Today, many agencies provide detailed crime maps online, free to anyone and everyone. Similarly, a lot of large law enforcement agencies used to centralize and control the public's access to their organizations: e.g., all calls had to come through one telephone number at headquarters. Now, many agencies encourage residents to contact "their" officers directly by e-mail or cell phone.

In fact, some police agencies that have embraced the potential of the Internet see their websites as a key feature of their policing strategy. For example, the <u>Los Angeles Police Department</u>¹ offers "e-policing," which it describes as "our way of bringing community policing to the Internet."

Given the importance of technology, this publication focuses primarily on digital and web-based e-policing techniques that support electronic community oriented policing (e-cop). The fundamental components of community policing include partnerships, problem solving, and organizational transformation.³ Other associated elements include citizen⁴ input, personal service, broad function, geographic focus, prevention emphasis, and positive interaction.⁵ The threads that connect these components and elements are collaboration and engagement: i.e., police working together with the community, other government agencies, and stakeholders to address crime and disorder problems and provide better quality services to the public.

In the modern world, "working together" and "collaborating" often occur in cyberspace. The police department that wants to meet its constituents has, as one option, doing so online. It is ironic but true that the impersonal, sometimes anonymous world wide web makes it easier for a law enforcement agency to solicit public input, engage in positive interactions, and deliver personal services right in its own backyard. As such, calling the Internet the backbone of modern community policing is only a slight exaggeration.

5 Introduction



New digital and electronic technologies have dramatically affected government, leading to the creation of the *Journal of E-Government*⁶ and the White House's Office of E-Government & Information Technology. In fact, the non-profit Center for Democracy & Technology describes the potential of e-government as follows:

New technologies in general and the Internet in particular can be used to enhance the way we are governed and the way in which we interact with government. It has been argued that the Internet will be able to reinvigorate the stagnating institutions of our democracy by ushering in a new era of citizen involvement, government transparency, and administrative efficiency.⁹

This description of e-government reflects a widespread movement toward community governance in general. Most important, e-government is not just about using the Internet to provide services more efficiently and economically, but also about engaging people with their government and police in collaborative problem solving.

In the same way that many people use the Internet for banking, shopping, and socializing, the primary vantage point by which people learn about their government and police is the Internet. For many, the Internet is also the means by which they seek, and expect to receive, government and police services. A 2010 Pew report indicated that 82% of Internet users had either looked for information or completed a transaction on a government website during the preceding year. So far, the public has expressed generally favorable opinions about e-government services, but it may be challenging to meet ever-increasing expectations.

E-government fits well with community governance in the same way that e-policing supports community policing. However, while this publication aims to describe the ways in which e-policing can support and enhance the philosophy and strategy of community policing, these applications should be understood in the broader context of overall police effectiveness. A free and open society wants police agencies to accomplish several important ends, including reducing serious crime, holding offenders accountable, making public spaces safe and orderly, making people feel safe, satisfying the public and protecting the legitimacy of the police institution, using force and authority fairly, and using financial resources efficiently. These multiple ends constitute a complicated and multidimensional "bottom line" for judging police effectiveness.¹³

E-policing has the potential to contribute significantly to the accomplishment of several of these important objectives. For example, electronically enhanced information sharing between the police and community might reduce crime by improving crime prevention behaviors and supporting collaborative problem solving. Websites and social networking might be used to solicit information from the community about specific crimes, allowing police to solve more crimes more quickly. Social networking might help police identify unsafe conditions more quickly and help notify the public about problems and crises more effectively. Electronic media might be useful for educating the community about crime and reassuring people that their neighborhoods are safer than they realize. Providing various police services electronically might increase client satisfaction and might prove to be the most efficient way to deliver certain services, saving financial resources. None of these outcomes are guaranteed, of course, but strategic utilization of e-policing will likely contribute to increased police effectiveness in several ways.

- 1. See "Official website of the Los Angeles Police Department," City of Los Angeles, www.lapdonline.org.
- 2. See "E-Policing," City of Los Angeles, www.lapdonline.org/e_policing.
- COPS Office, Community Policing Defined (Washington, D.C.: Office of Community Oriented Policing Services, 2012), http://ric-zai-inc.com/Publications/cops-p157-pub.pdf.
- 4. In this publication, the term "citizen" is not meant to be restrictive. It is used interchangeably with "resident" and "member of the public."
- Cordner, G., "Community Policing: Elements and Effects," *Police Forum 5 (1995): 1–8, reprinted in Critical Issues in Policing: Contemporary Readings*, 6th ed., eds. R.G. Dunham and G.P. Alpert (Long Grove, IL: Waveland, 2010, 432–449). See also Cordner, G., "Community Policing: Principles and Elements" (Richmond, KY: Eastern Kentucky University, 1996), www.ncdsv.org/images/CommunityPolicingPrinciplesElements.pdf.
- 6. See "Journal of E-Government," Civil Resource Group, www.egovjournal.com.
- 7. See "Office of E-Government & Information Technology," White House, www.whitehouse.gov/omb/e-gov/.
- 8. See "Center for Democracy & Technology," https://www.cdt.org/.
- 9. "Statement of CDT on E-Government," Center for Democracy & Technology, www.cdt.org/testimony/statement-cdt-e-government.
- Scheider, M., "From Community Policing to Community Governance," Community Policing Dispatch 1 (May 2008), www.cops.usdoj.gov/html/dispatch/may_2008/nugget.htm.
- Smith, A., "Government Online" (Washington, D.C.: Pew Internet & American Life Project, 2010), http://pewInternet.org/Reports/2010/Government-Online.aspx.
- See Hicks, R., "Citizen Satisfaction with E-Government Falls in the U.S.," FutureGov, April 29, 2009, www.futuregov.net/articles/2009/apr/29/citizen-satisfaction-e-government-us-falls/.
- Moore, M., and A. Braga, The "Bottom Line" of Policing: What Citizens Should Value (and Measure) in Police Performance (Washington, D.C.: Police Executive Research Forum, 2003), www.policeforum.org/library/police-evaluation/BottomLineofPolicing.pdf.
- 14. Cordner, G., *Reducing Fear of Crime: Strategies for Police* (Washington, D.C.: Office of Community Oriented Policing Services, 2010), https://ric-zai-inc.com/Publications/cops-p173-pub.pdf.

Providing Information to the Community

Law enforcement agencies have a well-established need to inform the public about a variety of matters, such as wanted persons, crime prevention tips, traffic conditions, and new initiatives. In the past, agencies typically relied on printed brochures, newsletters, press releases, and community meetings to carry out their public information function. Often, police had to depend on print, radio, and television media to help publicize and disseminate information.¹

While these techniques are still used, nowadays police departments have other methods of providing information to the public that can be quicker, cheaper, and more effective.² As <u>Strategic Communication Practices: A Toolkit for Police Executives</u> expresses:

Dramatic changes in where and when people get news and information have important ramifications for the communications functions of any police agency.... What these changes offer police departments is the opportunity to exert more control over their own stories, engage citizens in preventing crime, educate people about public safety issues, and dispel some myths about police work.³

Other aspects of providing information to the community are related to democracy and transparency. In a free society, people have a right to know what their government is doing, and public officials, including police executives, have an obligation to operate their agencies as openly as possible. When government agencies are open and transparent, citizens are better able to hold them accountable, and people are more likely to develop trust and confidence in their government.

Alerts and bulletins

As recently as the 1960s, in some cities when police wanted to transmit an important alert or bulletin to the public, they could push a button at headquarters and interrupt commercial radio broadcasts in order to tell the radio-listening audience to "be on the lookout." This capability largely vanished as the number of radio stations proliferated, as television became a bigger focus of the public's attention, and as concerns grew over the potential impact on commercial programming and advertising.

Still, radio and television stations continued to make occasional emergency announcements upon police request and have often played significant public information roles during disasters. Modern variants are the Amber Alerts for missing/abducted children and Silver Alerts for missing senior citizens or Alzheimer patients. These messages are often carried over the radio and on television as well as displayed on electronic roadside message boards.

In contrast to the 1960s, almost everyone today is either sitting in front of a computer or has a handheld digital device (e.g., smartphones and tablets) with them while they are out and about. Moreover, many people seem to focus their attention almost fanatically on these digital gadgets, while television and radio have become more like background noise. Consequently, law enforcement agencies have developed methods for sending alerts and bulletins directly to peoples' computers, cell phones, and other devices. This has become an efficient and effective method for quickly disseminating critical information to the public.

How does this work? Police agencies typically use their websites to invite people to sign up to receive alerts. For example, the Florida Department of Law Enforcement⁶ (FDLE) has prominent sign-ups on its homepage for Amber Alerts, sex offender alerts, and BusinesSafe⁷—an alert program specifically for businesses. The Amber Alerts can be received as e-mails and free text messages. Business alerts are issued by Regional Domestic Security Task Forces and deliver information by e-mail or text message to businesses about "breaking news, possible threats, suspicious activity, and specific preparedness and prevention techniques." Similarly, sex offender alerts are delivered by e-mail whenever a registered sex offender moves near an address specified by the alert registrant.

Likewise, the <u>Boise (Idaho) Police Department</u>¹⁰ offers a multi-purpose <u>e-mail</u> <u>alert service</u>. Anyone can sign up for citywide bulletins, some of which report police activities that have already occurred (e.g., "Officers Bust Neighborhood Drug House") while others solicit the public's help (e.g., "Boise Police Search for Robbery Suspects").

In <u>San Antonio</u>, <u>Texas</u>, ¹² businesses can sign up with the police department's <u>Businesses Against Theft NETwork</u> ¹³ to receive e-mail alerts about business crimes occurring citywide or just in their section of the city. The <u>Kankakee County (Illinois) Sheriff's Office</u> ¹⁴ provides text message alerts related to road closings, severe weather, and other emergencies. ¹⁵ And in <u>Minneapolis</u>, <u>Minnesota</u>, ¹⁶ residents can sign up to receive crime bulletins and other e-mail alerts specific to their neighborhood, sector, or precinct by visiting the "<u>MPD E-mail Alert Sign Up</u>" ¹⁷ web page. The sign-up system utilizes a map of the city so residents can simply click on their neighborhood.

One of the most extensive alert systems is offered in Washington, D.C., by the city's Emergency Management Agency via a link from the Metropolitan Police Department's homepage. The system, called Alert DC, 19 distributes all types of alerts—from homeland security threats to crime and traffic closures—to a variety of devices including computers and mobile phones.

Due to public interest in receiving crime alerts, several companies have begun offering these services on a commercial basis.²⁰ In some cases, the police department pays a fee to a company to provide the service in its jurisdiction. In other cases, a company charges individuals a small subscription fee, making the service free to the law enforcement agency. Yet another business model is relying on advertising to generate revenue, with no fees to either the agency or individual subscribers. The advantage of all of these models is that a police department needs to provide the alert messages only—the company provides the software, infrastructure, and support needed to sign up users and disseminate the messages.

Some police agencies have begun utilizing social networking sites and services as vehicles for disseminating alerts about breaking news such as bomb threats or serious crimes. The Boston Police Department, for example, uses Twitter to disseminate information to members of the public, including people gathered at mass events such as parades, festivals, and demonstrations. Twitter messages are brief (140 characters) but have the advantage of being disseminated as quickly as text messages to everyone signed up as a "follower" of the sender. As of January 2013, the Boston Police Department had more than 49,000 followers.

In a similar vein, Victoria, Australia, is developing plans to provide bushfire alerts via Twitter and Facebook in an effort to prevent the devastation that resulted from the fires that killed 173 people in early 2009. And the New York City Office of Emergency Management is using Facebook, Twitter, and YouTube to inform the public about emergency preparedness as well as specific incidents occurring in the city. 8

The cost and effectiveness of modern alert systems are still being determined. During a 2008 tornado alert in Larimer, Colorado, about 100,000 residents never received mobile phone or e-mail alerts that were supposed to be delivered (fortunately the tornado did not materialize).²⁹ Whether this failure was due to hardware, software, or operator error was not immediately clear. Larimer's wireless service contract for unlimited messages is reported to be \$95,000 per year; usage fees in larger jurisdictions are likely to be even higher. FEMA and other federal agencies are currently studying this situation and have developed a new national alert system, IPAWS³⁰ (Integrated Public Alert and Warning System), that integrates various public and commercial telephones, the Internet, and other communication networks.

A slightly older technology that has a similar purpose to these e-mail and text messaging alert systems (and can be quite costly) is called Reverse 911. This system sends automated voice messages from the police department to users' telephones. Residents can sign up to receive emergency notification calls about incidents occurring in proximity to their home or business addresses. In disaster situations, Reverse 911 can also be used to call all numbers within chosen telephone exchanges or other selected geographic areas. This kind of system was credited with saving many lives during the 2007 wildfires in and around San Diego County, California.³¹

Proactive alert broadcasts, as described above, that "push" information to people's computers, telephones, and other handheld devices seem most likely to serve the purpose of notifying residents (and even visitors) quickly about a serious or critical situation. In addition, alerts and bulletins can be posted on a department's website. While this more passive method does not push the information out to people, it is another way of informing the public. This approach enables extensive information to be provided, including additional text and pictures. Also, visitors to the website can search through current and past bulletins if they are looking for specific information. Two agencies with extensive online alerts are the Hernando County (Florida) Sheriff's Office³² and the Pennington County (South Dakota) Sheriff's Office³³ with their respective "Community Alert Bulletins" and "Felony Alerts" web pages.

Neighborhood information

In the context of community policing, it is particularly important to convey relevant information that is geographically focused: e.g., information tailored to particular neighborhoods. As noted above, some alert systems have that capacity—people signing up for the alerts can enter their addresses or neighborhoods and subsequently get alerts that are most pertinent to them. This feature of information dissemination pertains to more than just alerts, though. More generally, crime news, crime prevention tips, and other information from the police department should ideally be tailored to the neighborhoods where people live and work: i.e., to the communities with which people identify.

The Los Angeles Police Department's <u>e-policing web page</u>³⁶ provides one example of targeting information to the public. Residents are invited to sign up by providing their street and e-mail addresses. Subsequently, they receive e-mails, newsletters, and other information from the senior lead officers (SLOs) and area captains responsible for their neighborhoods. The web page indicates that "each SLO is responsible for a small portion of the community known as a Basic Car Area and will address local issues to help keep you safe and informed." Also, on the LAPD's "Crime Mapping and COMPSTAT"³⁷ web page, residents can get detailed Compstat-style crime and arrest data by patrol area.

The <u>Madison (Wisconsin)</u> Police <u>Department</u>³⁸ produces a separate <u>newsletter</u>³⁹ for each of its five districts. Residents can access these newsletters either by visiting the department's "<u>Madison Police Districts</u>"⁴⁰ web page and clicking on the district of their choice, or they can sign up to receive them by e-mail. In addition, each district's web page provides contact information for the district, identifies the district captain with a picture, and identifies the district's community policing team, neighborhood officers, and school resource officers. Pictures of the district officers are provided along with maps indicating their specific assignments.⁴¹

An important part of community policing is helping neighborhood residents identify "their" police officer. To accomplish this, officers may patrol on foot, stop and talk with residents, attend community meetings, and hand out business cards. Police agency websites can also help facilitate greater familiarity between officers and the public. In Fort Thomas, Kentucky, the police department's "Neighborhood Focus Program" web page lists the city's 18 zones along with a map. When residents click on their zone, they see a picture of the officer specifically responsible for their neighborhood, a short bio of the officer, and the officer's e-mail address and direct telephone number. Some of the officers have also added blogs and surveys to their zone web pages.

The <u>Davis</u> (<u>California</u>) <u>Police Department</u>⁴³ has a "<u>Contact Your Beat Officer</u>" web page. When residents click on a beat map or enter their street address, they are given the names of the officers who work each of the city's four beats. Another click provides contact information for any particular beat officer. The officers' shift schedules are also provided to help residents determine when "their officer" will be on-duty.

The Chicago Police Department's⁴⁵ CLEARpath⁴⁶ system provides a variety of information to neighborhood residents at the district level.⁴⁷ Residents can view pictures and details about their district's most wanted fugitives, see a calendar of events, and read about their district's success stories, crime alerts, news, and services. They can also see charts that identify the number and types of reported community concerns for the month (e.g., gangs, narcotics, and troubled buildings) and the overall disposition of those reports.

In regard to delivering neighborhood-related police and crime information to the public, the next frontier is mobile. A new app developed by the Surrey Police in the United Kingdom is one of the first to offer this kind of mobile functionality and seems likely to be widely replicated:

This new app not only gives residents in Surrey the ability to view what crimes are happening on their streets in a convenient format, but crucially provides them with live updates on where and how their local neighbourhood police teams are taking action to tackle issues.⁴⁸

Crime maps

Crime maps have become one of the fastest growing and most popular methods for informing people about problems occurring in their neighborhoods.⁴⁹ With Chicago's CLEARMAP⁵⁰ system, residents can select a district, zoom in and out of the map and select time periods of interest. They can switch between a drawn street map view and an aerial view. They can also use their mouse to highlight any event on the map to get details about the crime (e.g., location, date, time, crime type, and whether an arrest was made). Incident location is provided only to the block level, and time is rounded to the nearest half hour as a way to give victims some degree of privacy. Also, crimes are not posted until one week after being reported to give investigators time to make sure the event is correctly classified and that other information is accurate.

The <u>Seattle (Washington)</u> Police <u>Department</u>⁵¹ offers a different type of neighborhood crime map. Called a <u>density map</u>, ⁵² it shows all the police beats in the city shaded from light to dark according to the number of incidents during the past year. High-volume crimes are shaded based on the number of crimes per square mile, whereas low-volume crimes (e.g., homicides and rapes) are shaded based on the number per beat. Website visitors can view the total major crimes, total violent crimes, total property crimes, or individual crime categories such as burglary or vehicle theft. This type of map allows residents to see which parts of the city have lower or higher reported crime rates, but it does not map that information along specific neighborhood boundaries or map individual incidents (although Seattle offers that type of map, too).

The commercialization of crime mapping services has been an important development, as several companies now provide online crime maps for local jurisdictions. Typically, these companies charge a police department a monthly or annual fee. For example, one company charges agencies \$49 to \$199 per month depending on the jurisdictions' population. In return, these companies take an agency's raw data on crimes and/or calls for service to produce online maps that are accessible to the public, for free, via a link on the police department's website. The development of this business line demonstrates the high level of public interest in this kind of information.

These commercial crime mapping services are particularly helpful to small law enforcement agencies that might not otherwise have the capacity to do crime mapping or put it on their website for the community's benefit. The <u>Urbandale (Iowa) Police Department</u>⁵⁴ pays \$1,200 per year for this service, which is about 10% of the department's estimated cost to develop and maintain the mapping application itself.⁵⁵

In Maryland, the Governor's Office on Crime Control and Prevention⁵⁶ has provided state funding to encourage local agencies to work with CrimeReports. com,⁵⁷ a private firm that hosts multiple agencies' crime maps,⁵⁸ with the goal of achieving full law enforcement participation in Maryland.⁵⁹ One example is the town of Denton with a population of about 3,000 and 10 sworn officers.⁶⁰ When users visit the firm's website, data on these crime maps can be sorted by crime type and date range and are as up-to-date as permitted by the police department. Users can also zoom in and out of the maps and can click on incident icons to view a specific incident's details such as date, time, and location.

Another law enforcement agency that utilizes a commercial service is the Lincoln (Nebraska) Police Department. From the commercial website CrimeMapping.com, 2 users can select participating agencies, including Lincoln, or users can link to CrimeMapping.com from the police department's Police Activity 4 web page. Options that users can select include crime types, date ranges, a variety of locations (e.g., around a street, near a landmark, or centered on an address), and several map backgrounds (e.g., street map, satellite view, and labeled satellite view). Clicking on any of the incident icons reveals a brief description of the incident, including date, time, location, and case number.

Many law enforcement agencies have developed sophisticated crime mapping capabilities for the benefit of their commanders, detectives, and patrol officers. Clearly, residents also have considerable interest in this kind of information. One of the greatest challenges is determining how best to present these crime maps to the public.

Some online mapping applications are quite complicated, which may deter community residents from taking advantage of them. On the other hand, if the presentation is too basic or inflexible, or if the data are too old, users are not likely to be satisfied with the information they are able to obtain.⁶⁵ Striking the right balance is likely to be an ongoing challenge for police departments.

Online mapping has become so accessible that individuals and community groups have the capacity to develop them, too. One innovative example is "Stumble Safely," ⁶⁶ a website featuring an online map of Northwest Washington, D.C., that provides information about assaults, robberies, and other crimes occurring in the vicinity of popular bars and nightspots. Crime information is obtained from police reports and other sources such as Twitter messages. The intent of the site is to help people avoid problem locations when they are out on the town. Interestingly, the site was developed as part of a D.C. government competition to see how official data might be used if made more readily available to the general public. ⁶⁷

Crime prevention and safety information

Many law enforcement agencies provide crime prevention and safety information on their websites. Before the proliferation of police department websites, this kind of information was often available only in printed brochures. Putting the information online has several advantages, including quicker and more convenient access for the public, an easier way to update and revise information without having to reprint brochures, and reduced printing costs. Also, online information can have embedded links, so residents can easily jump from one document to another depending upon their needs and interests.

For example, the <u>Arlington (Texas) Police Department's</u>⁶⁸ "<u>Crime Prevention</u>"⁶⁹ web page has numerous links and public service announcement videos and several items in Spanish. The <u>Arapahoe County (Colorado) Sheriff's Office</u>70 offers 20 current <u>crime prevention and safety tips</u>71 on its website, including "Internet Safety for Kids" and "Tornado Safety." The <u>Garden Grove (California) Police Department's</u>72 "<u>Personal Security</u>"73 web page has information about street precautions, vehicle safety, waiting for a bus, riding on a bus, and office security. And the <u>Lexington (Kentucky) Division of Police</u>74 has a web page about "<u>Community Services</u>"75 with links for its Citizen Police Academy, seven safety programs, eleven crime prevention programs, and four programs for kids.

Some law enforcement agencies provide traffic safety information as well as current traffic conditions on their websites. The Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department⁷⁶ has a "Current Traffic" web page that updates every 15 minutes with locations of traffic problems and traffic accidents. A similar page for the Metropolitan Nashville Police Department updates every five minutes. A web page provided by Henrico County, Virginia, lists current traffic problems and offers two other features: (1) locations of traffic problems are viewable on a map, and (2) a hyperlink brings visitors to a different website that provides live feeds from traffic cameras. Moreover, this commercial website links to more than 10,000 traffic cameras in about 200 U.S. cities.

Information about the police department

Law enforcement agency websites typically provide a substantial amount of information about the agency itself, including contact information for various units, annual reports, mission statements, messages from the chief or sheriff, and the history of the agency. Another common feature is a list of an agency's ten most wanted persons. In addition to all these elements, the Arlington (Texas) Police Department also provides a list of fugitives, jail inmates, and current calls for service that is a direct feed⁸³ from the police department's CAD system. This list of calls is organized by priority and shows the nature of the call, time received, location (at the block level), and status. Visitors can also click on a map icon to see the call location plotted on a city street map.

Issues of openness and transparency come into play when deciding what kinds of information to make available on a law enforcement agency's website. As discussed earlier, some agencies identify individual beat officers with pictures and provide direct contact information—not all agencies are willing to do this. The Arlington (Texas) Police Department provides a link to its current CAD calls directly on its homepage, and the <u>Delaware State Police</u>⁸⁴ provides an <u>audio 911 scanner</u>.⁸⁵

Another category of information relates to a police agency's policies and procedures. The Kansas City (Missouri) Police Department⁸⁶ provides extensive information about its policies, procedures, special orders, memoranda, and other written guidelines accessible from the "Policies and Procedures" link on its homepage. ⁸⁷ A few specific policies are omitted for safety reasons, but even then a contact phone number is provided for users who want to pursue information about a policy that is not publicly available. Other agencies that make their policies and procedures available on their websites include the Lawrence (Kansas) Police Department, ⁸⁸ the Fayetteville (North Carolina) Police Department, ⁹⁹ and the Peoria (Arizona) Police Department. ^{90,91}

Quite a number of law enforcement agencies have been involved in federal civil rights cases, consent decrees, and similar outside investigations over the past decade. These are often contentious and controversial, the very definition of bad publicity for the agency. Interestingly, as another testament to openness and transparency, some agencies, such as the Oakland (California) Police Department, have made information related to these matters directly available to the public via their websites.

Issues and considerations

The guiding principle underlying all of the techniques discussed in this section is that police agencies should share information widely and systematically with the public. Community residents need information during emergencies and to help them assist the police, help prevent crime, and protect their homes, businesses, and neighborhoods.

In addition, citizens in a free society need, and are entitled to, information about what the police are doing to enhance responsiveness and accountability. The Internet and other digital technologies make information dissemination faster and more extensive and make that information readily available whenever members of the public want it.

Around the edges of the guiding principle, however, are some important issues and considerations. These include:

Privacy: Police departments routinely collect information that includes people's names, addresses, telephone numbers, driver's license numbers, associates, and alleged misdeeds. Police reports include intimate details about victimization and other personal events, and some police information pertains specifically to juveniles who may be entitled to an extra degree of privacy. Deciding exactly what information to make public and readily available on the police department's website or in alert messages is an important issue with legal, ethical, and practical considerations.

Safety: Making certain types of information widely available might endanger the safety of victims, offenders, or police officers. Personal safety is an important value to be weighed against the public's general right to know.

Operational effectiveness: Police departments routinely withhold information from the press and the public to avoid compromising ongoing investigations before they are completed. The same principle should apply to information that a law enforcement agency might consider disseminating or publishing electronically. The challenge lies in weighing the benefits of openness against the possible costs to operational effectiveness, while avoiding the temptation to keep more information secret than is necessary.

Computer security: New electronic technologies are sometimes not as secure as they should be. Implementing new technology that opens a gateway to computer hackers or others with malicious intent could jeopardize a police agency's databases and information systems. For example, the U.S. Department of Defense announced in August 2009 that it was considering prohibiting official use of Twitter, Facebook, and other social networking technologies for security reasons. ^{94,95} In 2011, several U.S. law enforcement agencies had their websites hacked by groups protesting the arrests of other Internet hackers; protesters then posted confidential information online, including credit card numbers and investigative evidence. They seemed to target smaller police departments and sheriff's offices whose Internet service providers lacked stringent security measures. ⁹⁶

Cost and staffing: There are costs attached to any method of information dissemination, including the cost of computer hardware and software, service fees, and staffing. On an ongoing basis, staffing is likely to be the biggest cost—someone has to compose all those alerts, bulletins, newsletters, etc. However, police agencies were issuing press releases and developing brochures even before the Internet and homepages existed. To some extent then, these are not new costs, and electronic dissemination undoubtedly provides savings in printing and mailing. In any cost/benefit analysis, a key consideration is the increased benefit provided by the wider and faster provision of information, and whether that justifies any increased costs.

Information accuracy: There is little point in providing information that is not correct; in fact, if the public were to act on wrong information, it might result in negative consequences. When agencies begin to disseminate more information, and do so faster, the possibility of providing inaccurate information increases. In addition, the public's expectations probably rise faster than an agency's ability to meet them. In Los Angeles, for example, the police department was criticized in 2009 because its online crime maps did not correctly locate a substantial number of crimes; ⁹⁷ it was criticized again when numerous serious crimes were omitted. ^{98,99}

Policy: The issues and considerations enumerated in this list demonstrate that law enforcement agencies need to develop formal policies and procedures to govern the provision of information via their websites, alerts, bulletins, Twitter accounts, Facebook accounts, and other electronic systems. Agencies need to identify the principles that will guide information dissemination, and they need to authorize specific personnel to decide what information to disseminate, actually release the information, carry out the dissemination, and so forth. Most likely, agencies already have such policies and procedures for traditional public information functions, but they probably need to be updated for today's digital environment. The International Association of Chiefs of Police established a Center for Social Media in 2010 to help agencies navigate these tricky new waters. 100

- The increasing ability of police to communicate directly with the public, especially through social media networks, is a matter of some consternation for the media. (See Krajicek, D., "With Social Media, Police and Reporters Grapple Over Control of Message," Poynter.org, June 6, 2011, www.poynter.org/latest-news/media-lab/social-media/134489/with-social-media-police-and-reporters-grapple-over-control-of-message/.)
- See Price, C., "The Police Website as a Community Policing Tool," The Police Chief (December 2001): 37–38; Onder, J.J., "Websites Invite Community into World of Law Enforcement," Community Links (May 2004): 5–8.
- Stephens, D.W., J. Hill, and S. Greenberg, Strategic Communication Practices: A Toolkit for Police Executives (Washington, D.C.: Office of Community Oriented Policing Services, 2011), 38, http://ric-zai-inc.com/Publications/cops-p222-pub.pdf.
- Givens, G., "A Concept to Involve Citizens in the Provision of Police Services," *American Journal of Police* 12 (1993): 1–9.
- See Rybolt, B., "Madison Police Department is the First to Offer Nixle Communications Service to Residents, Businesses," *Independent Press*, June 23, 2009, www.nj.com/independentpress/index.ssf/2009/06/madison police department is t.html.
- 6. See "Florida Department of Law Enforcement," www.fdle.state.fl.us/Content/home.aspx.
- See "FDLE Launches New Domestic Security Alert Notification System for Florida Businesses," Florida Department of Law Enforcement, May 7, 2008, www.fdle.state.fl.us/Content/News/May-2008/FDLE-Launches-New-Domestic-Security-Alert-Notifica.aspx.
- 8. Ibid.
- "FDLE and Law Enforcement Partners Launch Sex Offender Alert System," Florida Department of Law Enforcement, May 27, 2008, www.fdle.state.fl.us/Content/News/March-2008/FDLE-and-Law-Enforcement-Partners-Launch-Sex-Offen.aspx.
- 10. See "Boise Police Department," City of Boise, http://police.cityofboise.org/home/.
- 11. See "BPD E-Mail Alert System," City of Boise, http://police.cityofboise.org/home/about-bpd/bpd-e-mail-alert-system/.
- 12. See "City of San Antonio," www.sanantonio.gov.
- See "Business against Theft NETwork," City of San Antonio, www.sanantonio.gov/sapd/SAPDandBusinessCommunity.aspx.
- 14. See "Kankakee County Sheriff's Office," www.kankakeecountysheriff.com.

- 15. See "County Wide Alerting," Federal Signal Codespear, https://sheriffalert.smartmsg.com/.
- 16. See "Official Website of the City of Minneapolis," www.ci.minneapolis.mn.us.
- 17. See "MPD Email Altert Sign Up," City of Minneapolis, www.ci.minneapolis.mn.us/police/crimealert/police_crimealert_signup.
- 18. See "Metropolitan Police Department," The District of Columbia, http://mpdc.dc.gov/.
- 19. See "Welcome to Alert DC," https://textalert.ema.dc.gov/index.php?CCheck=1.
- See Tip411, www.citizenobserver.com/cov6/app/index.html; "Sign Up and Receive Crime Alerts," www.crimemapping.com/subscriptions/Subscribe.aspx; CrimeWeb.net, www.crimeweb.net/; SpotCrime, www.spotcrime.com/account.php/; and Nixle, www.nixle.com/.
- See France, L.R., "Police Departments Keeping Public Informed on Twitter," CNN.com, March 13, 2009, www.cnn.com/2009/TECH/03/13/police.social.networking/index.html.
- 22. See "Police Department," City of Boston, www.cityofboston.gov/POLICE/.
- 23. See "Boston Police Dept. @Boston_Police," Twitter, https://twitter.com/Boston_Police.
- See Ryan, A., "Police to Alert Public with Twitter Dispatches," The Boston Globe, March 12, 2009, www.boston.com/news/local/massachusetts/articles/2009/03/12/police_to_alert_public_with_ twitter_dispatches/.
- 25. See "Boston Police Dept. @Boston_Police," Twitter, http://twitter.com/#!/Boston_Police.
- Mercer, P., "Twitter to Give Bushfire Alerts," BBC News, July 6, 2009, http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/asia-pacific/8135520.stm.
- 27. See "New York City Office of Emergency Management," www.nyc.gov/html/oem/html/home/home.shtml.
- See "About OEM," New York City Office of Emergency Management, www.nyc.gov/html/oem/downloads/pdf/press_kit/MediaKit_final.pdf.
- 29. "Second Thoughts about Public Alert Systems," *Homeland Security News Wire*, July 11, 2009, http://homelandsecuritynewswire.com/single.php?id=8282.
- See "Integrated Public Alert and Warning System," Federal Emergency Management Agency, www.fema.gov/integrated-public-alert-warning-system.
- 31. McKay, J., "Wildfires Ravaged Southern California, but Reverse 911 and WebEOC Helped Evacuate 500,000," *Emergency Management*, March 26, 2008, www.emergencymgmt.com/disaster/Wildfires-Ravaged-Southern-California.html.
- 32. "Hernando County Sheriff's Office," www.hernandosheriff.org.
- 33. "Pennington County Sheriff," www.penningtoncountysheriff.com.
- 34. See "Community Alert Bulletins," Hernando County Sheriff's Office, www.hernandosheriff.org/Alerts/.
- 35. See "Felony Alerts," Pennington County Sheriff, www.penningtoncountysheriff.com/felony-alerts.html.
- 36. See "E-Policing," City of Los Angeles, www.lapdonline.org/e_policing.
- See "Crime Mapping and COMPSTAT," City of Los Angeles, www.lapdonline.org/crime_mapping_and_compstat.
- 38. See "City of Madison Police," City of Madison, Wisconsin, www.cityofmadison.com/police/.
- 39. See "Central District Newsletters," City of Madison, Wisconsin, www.cityofmadison.com/police/central/newsletters/.
- 40. See "Madison Police Districts," City of Madison, Wisconsin, www.cityofmadison.com/police/districts/.
- 41. See "Central Police District 2012 Community and Neighborhood Officer Assignments," Madison Police Department, www.cityofmadison.com/police/central/Documents/centralCPT.pdf.
- See "Neighborhood Focus Program Street and Zone Index," City of Fort Thomas, www.ftthomas.org/Police/GE0%20Focus/GE0-LEN%20Index.html.
- 43. See "Welcome to the Police Department," City of Davis, http://police.cityofdavis.org/.
- See "Contact Your Beat Officer," City of Davis, http://police.cityofdavis.org/patrol/contact-your-beat-officer.
- 45. See "Police," City of Chicago, www.cityofchicago.org/city/en/depts/cpd.html.
- See "Welcome to CLEARpath!," Chicago Police Department, https://portal.chicagopolice.org/portal/page/portal/ClearPath.
- 47. See "Police Districts," Chicago Police Department, https://portal.chicagopolice.org/portal/page/portal/ClearPath/Communities/Districts.

- May, L., "Surrey Police Launch New Weapon in Fight Against Crime," Epsom Guardian, August 25, 2011, www.epsomguardian.co.uk/news/9213078.Surrey_Police_launch_new_weapon_ in_fight_against_crime/.
- 49. White, B., "New Programs Put Crime Stats on the Map," *The Wall Street Journal,* June 3, 2009, http://online.wsj.com/article/SB124398235596978969.html?mod=googlenews_wsj; Dahl, J., "Crime Mapping Grows Up," *The Crime Report*, May 8, 2009, http://thecrimereport.org/2009/05/08/crime-mapping-grows-up/.
- See "Chicago Police Department CLEARMAP Crime Incidents," http://gis.chicagopolice.org/website/ClearMap/viewer.htm.
- 51. See "Seattle Police Department," City of Seattle, www.seattle.gov/Police/.
- 52. See "My Neighborhood Map," City of Seattle, http://web5.seattle.gov/mnm/statistics.aspx?tabld=3.
- 53. See CrimeMapping, www.crimemapping.com; "Expand Your Reach," CrimeReports, https://www.crimereports.com/home/law_enforcement_tools; and SpotCrime, http://spotcrime.com/.
- 54. See "Welcome to the Urbandale Police Department," City of Urbandale, www.urbandale.org/police-department.cfm.
- 55. Tekippe, A., "More Law-Enforcement Agencies Use Web-Based Crime-Mapping System," *The Daily Iowan*, July 8, 2009, www.dailyiowan.com/2009/07/08/Metro/11978.html.
- 56. See "Governor's Office on Crime Control and Prevention," State of Maryland, www.goccp.maryland.gov/.
- 57. See "CrimeReports," https://www.crimereports.com/.
- 58. "Crime Analysis and Mapping," Governor's Office on Crime Control and Prevention, www.goccp.maryland.gov/msac/crime-analysis-mapping.php.
- Maryland's Comprehensive State Crime Control and Prevention Plan, 2012–2014 (Towson, MD: Governor's Office on Crime Control and Prevention), 29, www.goccp.maryland.gov/documents/crime-plan12-14.pdf.
- 60. See "Crime Statistics," Town of Denton Police Department,
 www.dentonmdpolice.com/crime-statistics.asp. See also CrimeReports,
 https://www.crimereports.com/, and enter "Denton MD" in the "Enter an address" search box.
- 61. See "Lincoln Police Department," City of Lincoln, www.lincoln.ne.gov/city/police/.
- 62. See "CrimeMapping.com," www.crimemapping.com/.
- 63. See "CrimeMapping.com," The Director's Desk [blog of the public safety director of Lincoln, Nebraska], Blogger, June 12, 2008, http://lpd304.blogspot.com/2008/06/crimemappingcom.html.
- 64. See "Police Activity," Lincoln Police Department, http://lincoln.ne.gov/city/police/activityindex.htm.
- 65. See Libbey, M., "Crime Tracking Websites Allow Oakland Residents to Support Police Efforts," *Oakland Hills Examiner*, June 9, 2009, www.examiner.com/x-7254-Oakland-Hills-Examiner~y2009m6d9-Crime-stat-web-sites-allow-Oakland-residents-to-support-the-police.
- 66. See "Stumble Safely," Apps for Democracy: Community Edition, www.appsfordemocracy.org/stumble-safely/.
- 67. Homans, C., "The Geekdom of Crowds: The Obama Administration Experiments with Data-Driven Democracy," *Washington Monthly* 41 (July/August 2009): 13–17, www.washingtonmonthly.com/features/2009/0907.homans.html.
- 68. See "Police Department," City of Arlington, Texas, www.arlingtonpd.org/.
- 69. See "Crime Prevention," City of Arlington, Texas, www.arlingtonpd.org/index.asp?nextpg=CrimePrevention/index.html.
- 70. See "Sheriff's Office," Arapahoe County, www.co.arapahoe.co.us/Departments/SH/.
- 71. See "Crime Prevention Tips," Arapahoe County, www.co.arapahoe.co.us/Departments/SH/Monthly%20Updates/Crime%20Prevention%20Tips.asp.
- 72. See "Police Department," City of Garden Grove, www.ci.garden-grove.ca.us/?q=police/frontpage.
- 73. See "Personal Security," City of Garden Grove, www.ci.garden-grove.ca.us/?q=police/safety.
- 74. See "Division of Police," Lexington-Fayette Urban County Government, www.lexingtonky.gov/index.aspx?page=67.
- 75. See "Community Services," Lexington-Fayette Urban County Government, www.lexingtonky.gov/index.aspx?page=78.
- 76. See "Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department," www.lvmpd.com/.

- See "Current Traffic," Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department, www.lvmpd.com/News/CurrentTraffic.aspx.
- See "Traffic Accidents," Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson County, Tennessee, www.police.nashville.org/traffic/default.asp.
- 79. See "Metropolitan Nashville Police Department," www.nashville.gov/Police-Department.aspx.
- 80. See "Current Traffic Accidents and Hazards," Henrico County, http://randolph.co.henrico.va.us/Traffic/Calls.aspx.
- 81. See "Police," Henrico County, www.co.henrico.va.us/police/.
- 82. See "TrafficLand," www.trafficland.com/#city/RIC.
- 83. See "Non-Dispositioned Calls for Service," City of Arlington, Texas, www.arlingtonpd.org/CAD.asp.
- 84. See "Delaware State Police," http://dsp.delaware.gov/.
- 85. See "DSP-800 Scanner," State of Delaware, http://dsp.delaware.gov/Videos/dspplayer.html.
- 86. See "Kansas City Police Department," www.kcpd.org.
- 87. See "Public View Master Index," Kansas City (Missouri) Police Department, www.kcmo.org/police/PoliciesandProcedures/index.htm.
- 88. See "Lawrence, Kansas Police Department," http://police.lawrenceks.org.
- 89. See "Welcome to the Fayetteville NC Police Department," http://police.ci.fayetteville.nc.us.
- See "Peoria Police Department," City of Peoria, Arizona, www.peoriaaz.gov/newsecondary.aspx?id=14413.
- 91. See "Policies and Procedures," Lawrence, Kansas, Police Department, http://policies-and-procedures; "Policies and Procedures: Directory Listing," Fayetteville Police Department, http://policiesprocedures.aspx; and "Policies and Procedures Manual," Police Department, City of Peoria, Arizona, www.peoriaaz.gov/newsecondary.aspx?id=14381.
- See "City of Oakland California Police Department," City of Oakland, www2.oaklandnet.com/Government/o/OPD/index.htm.
- See "The Negotiated Settlement Agreement," City of Oakland, www2.oaklandnet.com/Government/o/OPD/o/BureauofInvestigation/DOWD004998.
- 94. Barnes, J.E., "What's on the Pentagon's Mind? Facebook," *Los Angeles Times,* August 5, 2009, www.latimes.com/news/nationworld/nation/la-na-pentagon-facebook5-2009aug05,0,3998956.story.
- 95. In 2010, the department decided that "social networking is integral to its operations and is to be encouraged." (Gohring, N., "U.S. Defense Department OKs Social Networking," *PC World*, March 1, 2010, www.pcworld.com/article/190457/article.html.)
- 96. Satter, R.G., "Hackers Strike at 70 U.S. Law Enforcement Websites," *USA Today,* August 6, 2011, www.usatoday.com/tech/news/2011-08-06-hacking-police-law-enforcement-Anonymous_n.htm.
- 97. See Welsh, B., and D. Smith, "Highest Crime Rate in L.A.? No, Just an LAPD Map Glitch," *Los Angeles Times*, April 5, 2009, www.latimes.com/news/local/la-me-geocoding-errors5-2009apr05,0,5966285.story.
- 98. See Welsh, B., and D. Smith, "LAPD's Public Database Omits Nearly 40% of This Year's Crimes," *Los Angeles Times*, July 9, 2009, www.latimes.com/news/local/la-me-lapd-crimemap9-2009jul09,0,909582.story?page=1.
- 99. As of December 2012, "The Los Angeles Police Department's Crime Map page is currently undergoing technical renovations in preparation for a new crime mapping system..." ("Crime Mapping," City of Los Angeles, www.lapdonline.org/crime_prevention/content_basic_view/42390.)
- See "IACP Center for Social Media," International Association of Chiefs of Police, www.iacpsocialmedia.org/.

Soliciting Information from the Community

Effective policing depends heavily on information from the public. The police need people to report crimes and suspicious situations so investigations can commence. When people see a crime in progress, quick reporting gives police the chance to interrupt the incident and catch the offender. Information from witnesses is crucial to solving crimes after they occur. Tips from informants and the general public help the police find wanted persons and discover the kinds of crimes that otherwise would not be reported. Traditional crime control efforts can succeed only when people supply the police with information.

Police agencies need other types of information from the public, too. Information about underlying and recurring neighborhood problems helps officers initiate problem-solving activities. Likewise, citizens' fears and concerns can alert the police to the need for reassurance efforts. Also, feedback from the public can help law enforcement agencies adjust their priorities and practices to better satisfy their communities. This can include citizen assessments of how they were treated during specific interactions with the police as well as overall opinions about police service and protection.

Websites and other digital technologies provide many ways for police agencies to solicit information from the public. These methods are generally efficient and inexpensive. They are also convenient for the public—people can use them whenever they choose, from the comfort of their home or out and about the neighborhood, and can use their favorite technology, whether that is a smartphone, tablet, text message, e-mail, blog reply, or other web comment. Additionally, many of these systems provide a degree of confidentiality or even anonymity for those who want to help but also want to limit their actual involvement. These methods offer a great deal of promise if people can be convinced to use them routinely and responsibly.

Suspicious activity and neighborhood problems

People may wonder why online reporting of crimes and suspicious activity would be useful when 911 is already in place. Presumably, most people will continue to rely primarily on calls to 911 to report emergencies and calls to 311 or other non-emergency numbers to report lesser problems. However, there are exceptions:

- Some people have trouble speaking and can communicate more effectively in text format.
- In some situations, speaking aloud into a telephone might be dangerous or alert an offender, whereas texting would not.
- During large-scale emergencies, voice telephone service may be interrupted or overwhelmed, but e-mails, texts, and tweets may still get through.
- Many situations are so minor that no immediate action is required, and a person might simply find reporting such a situation by e-mail or text more convenient.
- Some people who do not want to give their names may feel that a text, e-mail, or website comment is more anonymous than a telephone call.

Some examples of police agencies that solicit initial notification of crimes, complaints, and suspicious activity via the web or other digital systems includes the Reno (Nevada) Police Department, which allows its residents to submit graffiti complaints and code violations via online forms. (For information about full-scale online crime reporting, in which a victim or witness provides complete information that results in an official police report, see "Providing Online Services" on page 28.)

Another example is the "Online Service Requests" web page, provided by Portland, Oregon,⁴ that presents various links visitors can use to report many types of complaints, including graffiti, neighborhood nuisances, liquor license violations, dangerous buildings, noise, and street light problems. The Collier County (Florida) Sheriff's Office⁵ has an online form⁶ for reporting any kind of suspicious criminal activity, as well as a specific page⁷ for reporting an abandoned house or a "grow house" used for indoor marijuana cultivation. The San Diego Police Department's "Forms" web page provides easy online reporting of inoperable motor vehicles and vehicles parked in the same location for longer than 72 hours, along with a general purpose form for reporting suspicious activity. While all of these types of web pages provide many benefits, they should all include an admonishment that, in an emergency situation, residents should call 911 rather than submit information online.

Many police departments are now setting up their public safety communication systems, such as 911, to be able to receive e-mail and text message notifications about incidents and problems. This can be somewhat challenging for real-time incidents if quick police action is required. When people call 911 with their telephones, the calls are automatically sent to the correct emergency communications center (although this system is still being adjusted for mobile phone calls). With e-mails and texts, however, there is no enhanced 911 technology working in the background to direct the message to the correct destination—rather, the person sending the e-mail or text message usually must specify the receiver's e-mail address or telephone number for the message to be received. If the person sends the message to an incorrect destination or to one that is monitored only Monday through Friday from 9:00 am to 5:00 pm, the value of their information may be negated.

Crime Stoppers, ¹² a program started in 1976 with local chapters typically run by non-profit citizen groups, has developed one solution to this situation. In some jurisdictions, including Boston and Los Angeles, residents can send a text message to CRIMES (274637). Inclusion of the word "TIP" in Boston or "LAPD" in Los Angeles at the beginning of the initial text message initiates an anonymous or encrypted text dialogue through which the person can convey his or her information to the police department (however, the person must recall that each text message is limited to 160 characters). ¹³ Similar systems are offered by some of the same private companies that assist local governments and law enforcement agencies in distributing alerts. ¹⁴

Clearly this is an evolving situation. It seems inevitable that more and more citizens will want to notify police about various situations via e-mail, text messages, or Facebook posts. ¹⁵ However, none of these methods are presently as reliable as an old-fashioned telephone call, especially in getting the message to the correct law enforcement agency. Also, two-way closed-loop communication, with the opportunity to ask questions and get answers is usually quicker and often more effective over the telephone.

As with web tips, police agencies will want to emphasize that emergencies should still be reported using 911. At the same time, police communication centers will need to enhance their technology and procedures to receive the e-mails and texts that will undoubtedly increase in volume over time. The Federal Government is currently sponsoring the Next Generation 911 Initiative to help public safety communications make the transition to digital and Internet Protocol technology and systems.¹⁷

An additional interesting application for reporting any and all kinds of non-emergency local problems is the independent website SeeClickFix.com. ¹⁸ Visitors to this free site can report problems such as streetlight repairs, illegal dumping, and parking enforcement for their specific locations anywhere in the country. These problems and complaints are then posted to a U.S. Google map with zoom capabilities (paid subscribers can access additional features). The most commonly reported complaints seem to be potholes. Other commonly reported complaints that might interest the police more include graffiti, parking problems, traffic light malfunctions, and abandoned cars. The developers of the website explain their objective as follows:

A few local governments have enough sophistication to run functional websites or 311 hot lines. Most do not have the resources to do much more than brochure-ware. Our site is a place for citizens from anywhere to give their local government a website that tracks local issues. No setup time. No hiring consultants to study the issue. Just SeeClickFix. 19

Similarly, on the local level, Boston announced in 2009 that it was developing a smartphone application that would allow residents to send photos of potholes, graffiti, and similar nuisances directly to city hall.²⁰ The city already offers a 24-hour call-in hotline to report such problems, but it expects younger residents to prefer the smartphone service.

Help with investigations

Another common feature of law enforcement agency websites is soliciting information related to specific investigations. Websites offer a particular advantage for this because photos, videos, and extensive texts can be posted online for the public to view. In the past, a newspaper might publish one black-and-white photo of a bank robbery, for example, whereas multiple color photos can be provided on websites. Similarly, television stations might agree to show a bank robbery video once or twice during their news programs, but the same video can be made available online for viewing at any time.

The Los Angeles Police Department's website includes dedicated sections such as missing persons, reward bulletins, and art theft accessible from its homepage, along with most wanted offenders and most wanted gang members—all with photos and accompanying information. The Albuquerque Police Department's²¹ main page previously provided a link to a serial murder cold-case investigation, where photos of identified victims and information about unidentified victims were provided—this page has now been moved to its own separate website, titled "Help Us Catch A Killer."²² The New York City Police Department²³ has a web page specifically for bank robbery suspects,²⁴ and the Georgia Bureau of Investigation²⁵ has a page devoted to unidentified human remains.²⁶

The FBI²⁷ has partnered with local law enforcement agencies and the banking industry to establish "Bandit Tracker" websites. Each of these sites features photos of unsolved bank robberies along with descriptive suspect information. Online maps are also provided to show where bank robberies occurred in the region. The sites have an Info/Tips tab through which the public can submit information that might be helpful to investigators. Particular suspects are sometimes given nicknames to heighten public interest. For example, the Quick Change Bandit and the Carrot Top Bandit were among the robbers listed on Chicago's "Bandit Tracker" website in August 2011.²⁸

Soliciting information online from the public to help with investigations is often done in conjunction with Crime Stoppers, Silent Witness, most wanted lists, and other existing programs. Many law enforcement agency websites have links to <u>Crime Stoppers</u>,²⁹ which used to rely heavily on "Crimes of the Week" publicized on local television stations. Members of the public could then call in, anonymously, and receive cash rewards if their information led to the police solving the case or locating the wanted person. Crime Stoppers still uses television and radio publicity, as well as flyers and billboards, but now also has a substantial online presence with photos, crime descriptions, and other information. The websites promote the Crime Stoppers' telephone numbers but also offer the option to submit web tips.³⁰

The name Silent Witness is used for several different programs around the United States, including online crime and tip reporting at many universities and a national initiative aimed at reducing domestic violence. The Arizona Department of Public Safety's³¹ "Silent Witness"³² web page links directly to the non-profit Phoenix metropolitan area Silent Witness³³ program, which operates more like Crime Stoppers, offering rewards for information that helps solve serious crimes or locate wanted suspects. This website takes advantage of web capabilities by presenting multiple photographs to help publicize unsolved cases.

Many law enforcement agencies post lists of their most wanted offenders on their websites, along with pictures and explanatory information. Often the "most wanted" tabs or icons on police websites are linked to Crime Stoppers to reassure those providing information that they can remain anonymous, if desired. The New York City Police Department uses this method with its "Wanted Gallery" and solicits telephone, text, and web tips. The web tip form is offered in several languages and allows pictures to be attached when tips are submitted.

On the national level, the <u>U.S. Marshals Service</u>³⁵ has a web page dedicated to soliciting help in locating its <u>top 15 fugitives</u>, and the FBI has separate "<u>Most Wanted</u>" pages for its 10 most wanted fugitives, its most wanted terrorists, kidnappings and missing persons, parental kidnappings, unknown bank robbers, crimes against children, and unsolved homicide, sexual assault, and missing person cases. The FBI has become particularly innovative in using new technology to attract the public's attention and draw people to its web pages where open cases and most wanted offenders are highlighted. The FBI produces attractive widgets and interactive posters that users can add to their websites, desktops, and Facebook and MySpace pages, all of which link back to FBI alerts and bulletins. The FBI also produces podcasts and e-mail alerts and has utilized digital billboards around the country to publicize wanted persons. And in 2011, the FBI produced a smartphone app to assist with identifying and locating missing children. Shows the page of the results of the

A different twist has also developed; offenders can use Twitter and other social media to communicate among themselves and with the outside world. This seems to be a common characteristic of flash mobs and appears to have been a major source of coordination among those who rioted in London in the summer of 2011.⁴⁰ In response, the London Metropolitan Police used social networks to solicit the public's assistance in identifying photographs of looters and others who committed crimes, as did the Vancouver police in Canada following the Stanley Cup riot in June 2011.⁴¹ In turn, the New York City Police Department also created a new social media unit to scour social networks for information about crime and disorder.⁴²

Complaints and commendations

Other types of input sought from the public include complaints and commendations pertaining to specific agency employees. Some departments provide forms on their websites to submit this kind of information, but the forms must be downloaded, completed, and then mailed in or dropped off. Other agencies enable the public to submit complaints and compliments online. Among those offering this online service are the Seattle (Washington) Police Department and the Tulsa County (Oklahoma) Sheriff's Office⁴³ with their respective "Online OPA Complaint Form"⁴⁴ and "Citizen Comments Form."⁴⁵ Other agencies, however, offer even more flexibility. The Keller (Texas) Police Department, ⁴⁶ for example, encourages people to file commendations or complaints by calling the department, sending an e-mail, or submitting an online form.⁴⁷

General feedback

Law enforcement agencies may also use their websites to solicit general feedback from the public. This can take the form of a community survey, an issue poll, or simply encouragement to contact them. Some police departments also seek specific feedback from residents who have had recent contact with an officer or other member of the department. These are much like customer satisfaction follow-up requests from hotels, retail stores, and other businesses.

Many law enforcement agencies now offer community surveys on their websites. These surveys typically include a mix of closed-ended and open-ended questions and are usually not lengthy. They give the general public an opportunity to provide their opinions about the police agency, and they provide a way to measure the community's perceptions of crime and safety. A few examples are the Fairfax County (Virginia) Police Department's⁴⁸ "Community Satisfaction Survey"⁴⁹ and the "Campbell County Police Department Survey"⁵⁰ in Kentucky.

These general-purpose community surveys often ask respondents whether they have had recent personal encounters with members of the law enforcement agency. Another type of survey focuses specifically on satisfaction with recent police-citizen contacts. To gain the best advantage from these surveys, departments sometimes provide the web address of the survey on citation and report forms, or e-mail a link to people soon after they have reported a crime, been involved in an accident, or received another form of police service. Examples of citizen contact surveys on agencies' websites include the Bonney Lake (Washington) Police Department's⁵¹ "Citizen's Survey,"⁵² the Grapevine (Texas) Police Department's⁵³ "Online Citizen Survey,"⁵⁴ the Illinois State Police's⁵⁵ "Citizen Survey,"⁵⁶ and the Marshall County (Iowa) Sheriff's Office's⁵⁷ "Citizen Service Input."⁵⁸

Sometimes police agencies use their websites to solicit specific or targeted feedback from the public over a limited period of time. The Howard County (Maryland) Police Department⁵⁹ used laser speed cameras on an experimental basis in school zones (issuing only warnings) and then posted a web survey to get a sense of the public's awareness of the experiment and support for state legislation to authorize the use of cameras for speed enforcement. Likewise, the Seattle (Washington) Police Department offered a survey asking for feedback about its website. The Portsmouth (Virginia) Police Department⁶⁰ posted a web survey seeking input for its 5-year strategic planning process. The Chesapeake (Virginia) Sheriff's Office⁶¹ sought feedback on its use of inmate work crews in the community. And Minneapolis sought public input on desirable qualities for a new police chief. Also, the Douglas County (Oregon) Sheriff's Office⁶² is using an online survey⁶³ to fine-tune its Neighborhood Watch programs.

Issues and considerations

Law enforcement agencies want and need information from the public for a lot of reasons. Now that people are so digitally connected by mobile phones, smartphones, and computers, police have the opportunity to obtain information more quickly and efficiently about crimes, suspicious activity, and neighborhood problems. They also have additional means to solicit help from the public in solving crimes and locating wanted persons. Some of the same digital technologies can also be used to seek input and feedback from the police agency's "customers" and from the community in general.

There are, however, definitely some issues and challenges associated with these modern methods of seeking information. These include:

Integration with 911: Law enforcement agencies typically instruct the public to not use e-mail or text messages but rather 911 to report emergencies. E-mails and texts work well for submitting tips that police can follow up on later but not as well for reporting serious incidents in progress. Further public education will be required to drive home this lesson. In the meantime, systems are being developed that will enable communication centers to receive e-mails and texts about real-time events, considering they will inevitably be submitted in this way and sometimes can be the only operable means of communication during disasters and other emergencies.

Information versus noise: Creating the capacity to receive web and text tips is likely to increase the number of tips that police and Crime Stoppers receive. Many of the tips may be groundless or incorrect, although initial indications show that few bogus tips are being submitted.⁶⁴ Because following up on tips takes time and effort, agencies may be challenged by the increased volume they are likely to receive.

Costs and staffing: The direct costs associated with setting up online systems to solicit information from the public are generally minimal. Creating and hosting online surveys may entail some costs, but these are usually quite reasonable. More significant costs may be incurred for staffing—employees who update "Most Wanted" web pages, follow up on tips, analyze survey data, etc. Also, some law enforcement agencies receive quite a few messages via their "Contact Us" web page features. Deciding who should receive and follow up on these messages is an important consideration, and the cumulative staff time required for follow-ups and replies may be significant.⁶⁵

Digital divide: Not everyone in America is online and digitally connected, although access is growing quickly. About two-thirds of Americans now have high-speed Internet connections at home, up from 55% in 2008. 66 But one in five American adults does not use the Internet, and online access is lower for senior citizens, disabled persons, and lower-income people than for others. 67 As long as this remains the case, law enforcement agencies will need to be careful about relying too heavily on e-policing techniques for both providing information to the public and soliciting information from the public. These techniques may work well for some people but not for others. Because the police have an obligation to serve the entire community, they need to be sensitive to this situation.

Complaints: Accepting complaints against officers and other employees online may have the effect of increasing the number of frivolous, spiteful, and even false complaints that are filed. This could increase the workload of complaint investigators and subject officers to unfair scrutiny. The other side of the coin, of course, is that accepting complaints online may empower some people who otherwise would be unwilling to file complaints for fear of intimidation or retaliation. Striking the right balance between encouraging complaints from the public and protecting officers from unfair charges is a difficult challenge. One way to maintain balance is to also solicit commendations and compliments online.

Skewed feedback: Online community surveys and citizen contact surveys are inexpensive to administer, and they convey to the public that the police department cares about public opinions and suggestions. One risk, however, is that the feedback may not be representative. In traditional surveys, great care is usually taken to select a random or systematic sample so that, when responses are obtained, there is some confidence that they represent the larger population. This is more difficult to ensure when responses are provided to a survey attached to an agency's website. In the first place, whether the people visiting the website are representative of the entire community is unknown. Second, the representativeness of those who notice the survey and choose to complete it is also unknown. For these reasons, the better systems may be those in which the law enforcement agency sends e-mails or letters to a carefully chosen sample of residents and/or police service recipients, asking them to go to a web address and complete a survey. This provides more confidence that the group being asked to provide feedback is a fair reflection of the entire community. Of course, as with all surveys, another challenge to obtaining representative input is getting a sufficient number of respondents to actually complete the survey.

- 1. See "Police Department," City of Reno, www.reno.gov/index.aspx?page=198.
- 2. See "Report Graffiti," City of Reno, www.reno.gov/Index.aspx?page=481
- See "Online Service Requests," City of Portland, Oregon, www.portlandonline.com/index.cfm?&category_ id=74&c=27447.
- 4. See "Portland Online," www.portlandonline.com.
- 5. See "Collier County Sheriff's Office," www.colliersheriff.org.
- See "Tip Us Off," Collier County Sheriff's Office, www.colliersheriff.org/Index.aspx?page=1980.
- See "Report a Grow House or Abandoned House," Collier County Sheriff's Office, www.colliersheriff.org/Index.aspx?page=2410.
- 8. See "San Diego Police Department," City of San Diego, www.sandiego.gov/police/index.shtml.
- 9. See "Forms," San Diego Police Department, www.sandiego.gov/police/forms/forms.shtml.
- "lowa 911 Call Center First in Nation to Go Live with Text to 911," Business Wire, August 3, 2009, www.businesswire.com/news/home/20090803005999/en/lowa-911-Call-Center-Nation-Live-Text; Schulte, G., ":-(Help! ASAP: lowans Put 911 Texting to Test," USA Today, August 10, 2009, www.usatoday.com/tech/wireless/2009-08-10-911text_N.htm?loc=interstitialskip.

- Colimore, E., "Outdated 911 Centers Can't Handle Texting," The Inquirer, August 11, 2009, http://articles.philly.com/2009-08-11/news/25276770_1_text-messages-centers-handheld-devices.
- 12. See "Crime Stoppers USA," www.crimestoppersusa.com/.
- See "Boston Police Department Crime Stoppers," City of Boston, <u>www.cityofboston.gov/police/crimeprevention/crimstop_mobile_terms.asp</u>; "Crime Stoppers," City of Los Angeles, www.lapdonline.org/crime_stoppers.
- 14. See "Tip411," CitizenObserver, www.citizenobserver.com/cov6/app/index.html.
- 15. Beckford, M., "Police Force Tells Residents to Stop Reporting Crimes on Facebook," *The Telegraph*, July 24, 2012, www.telegraph.co.uk/technology/facebook/9420978/Police-force-tells-residents-to-stop-reporting-crimes-on-Facebook.html.
- 16. "Next Generation 911 Iniative," Public Safety and Homeland Security Bureau, Federal Communications Commission, http://transition.fcc.gov/pshs/services/911-services/nextgen.html.
- 17. Montandon, E., "Next-Generation 911 is Finally Poised to Take Off," *Government Technology*, April 13, 2012, www.govtech.com/public-safety/Next-Generation-911-Take-Off-GT.html.
- 18. See "SeeClickFix," www.seeclickfix.com.
- 19. "About SeeClickFix," http://seeclickfix.com/about_us.
- Levenson, M., "Municipal Complaint? There's an App for That," *The Boston Globe*, July 6, 2009, www.boston.com/news/local/massachusetts/articles/2009/07/06/boston_to_debut_8216killer_app8217_for_municipal_complaints/.
- 21. See "Police," City of Albuquerque, www.cabq.gov/police.
- 22. See "Help Us Catch A Killer," http://helpuscatchakiller.com/.
- 23. See "NYPD," City of New York, www.nyc.gov/html/nypd/html/home/home.shtml.
- 24. See "Crime Stoppers: Bank Robbers," Police Department City of New York, https://a056-crimestoppers.nyc.gov/crimestoppers/public/public/MWGallery.cfm?galleryType=bankRobbery.
- 25. See "Georgia Bureau of Investigation," http://gbi.georgia.gov/.
- 26. See "Unidentified Remains," Georgia Bureau of Investigation, http://gbi.georgia.gov/cases/unidentified-remains.
- 27. See "The FBI Federal Bureau of Investigation," www.fbi.gov.
- 28. See "BanditTrackerChicago.com," http://bandittrackerchicago.com.
- 29. See "Crime Stoppers USA," www.crimestoppersusa.com/.
- 30. See "Broward County Crime Stoppers," www.browardcrimestoppers.com.
- 31. See "Arizona Department of Public Safety," www.azdps.gov.
- 32. See "Silent Witness," Arizona Department of Public Safety, www.azdps.gov/services/Tips/Silent_Witness/.
- 33. See "Silent Witness," www.silentwitness.org.
- 34. See "Crime Stoppers: Wanted," Police Department City of New York, https://a056-crimestoppers.nyc.gov/crimestoppers/public/publicMWGallery.cfm.
- 35. See "U.S. Marshals Service," www.usmarshals.gov.
- See "Fugitive Investigations: 15 Most Wanted," U.S. Marshals Service, www.usmarshals.gov/investigations/most_wanted/index.html.
- 37. See "Wanted by the FBI," Federal Bureau of Investigation, www.fbi.gov/wanted/wanted_by_the_fbi.
- 38. DeLoma, J., "FBI's Most Wanted Lists Get High-Tech Makeover," *Fox News*, March 26, 2009, www.foxnews.com/story/0,2933,510515,00.html.
- 39. Czekalinski, S., "FBI App Helps ID Missing Kids," *PoliceOne.com*, August 22, 2011, <u>www.policeone.com/police-products/communications/articles/4241175-FBI-app-helps-ID-missing-kids/.</u>
- 40. Tucker, E., and T. Watkins, "For Flash Mobsters, Crowd Size a Tempting Cover," *Yahoo! News*, August 9, 2011, http://news.yahoo.com/flash-mobsters-crowd-size-tempting-cover-090426131.html.
- 41. "London Police Use Smartphones, Social Network to Identify Rioters," *Homeland Security News Wire*, August 10, 2011, www.homelandsecuritynewswire.com/london-police-use-smartphones-social-network-identify-rioters; "Social Media and the Vancouver Riots," MediaFile, *Reuters*, June 20, 2011, http://blogs.reuters.com/mediafile/2011/06/20/social-media-and-the-vancouver-riots/.
- 42. Parascandola, R., "NYPD Forms New Social Media Unit to Mine Facebook and Twitter for Mayhem," *NY Daily News*, August 10, 2011, http://articles.nydailynews.com/2011-08-10/local/29887819_1_social-media-facebook-and-twitter-kamisha-richards.

- 43. See "Welcome to the Tulsa County Sheriff's Website," www.tcso.org/tcsoweb/Default.aspx.
- 44. See "Online OPA Complaint Form," City of Seattle, https://www.seattle.gov/police/OPA/Complaintform.htm.
- 45. See "Citizen Comments Form," Tulsa County Sheriff's Office, www.tcso.org/tcsoweb/CitizenCommFormEN.aspx.
- 46. See "Keller Police," www.cityofkeller.com/index.aspx?page=39.
- 47. See "Commendation Procedures: How Are We Doing?" Keller Police, www.cityofkeller.com/index.aspx?page=750.
- 48. See "Fairfax County Police Department," County of Fairfax, Virginia, www.fairfaxcounty.gov/police/.
- See "Community Satisfaction Survey," Fairfax County Police Department, www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx?sm=Vdn5VH04ews7FgBEso9yIA_3d_3d.
- See "Campbell County Police Department Survey," Commonwealth of Kentucky, www.campbellcountyky.org/survey/pd.htm.
- 51. See "Police Department," City of Bonney Lake, www.ci.bonney-lake.wa.us/section_government/departments/police/index.shtml.
- 52. See "Citizen's Survey," City of Bonney Lake, www.citybonneylake.org/section_government/departments/police/community_service/citizen_survey.shtml.
- 53. See "Police," Grapevine, Texas, www.grapevinetexas.gov/index.aspx?nid=446.
- 54. See "Online Citizen Survey," Grapevine, Texas, www.grapevinetexas.gov/FormCenter/Police-2/Online-Citizen-Survey-34.
- 55. See "Illinois State Police," www.isp.state.il.us.
- 56. See "Citizen Survey," Illinois State Police, www.isp.state.il.us/SurveySite.
- 57. See "Marshall County Sheriff's Office," www.marshallcountysheriff.com/index.php.
- 58. See "Citizen Service Input," Marshall County Sheriff's Office, www.marshallcountysheriff.com/survey.php.
- 59. See "Police," Howard County, Maryland, www.howardcountymd.gov/departments.aspx?ID=6442451164.
- 60. See "Portsmouth Police Department," http://portsmouthpd.org.
- 61. See "Chesapeake Sheriff's Office," www.chesapeakesheriff.com.
- 62. See "Douglas County Sheriff's Office," www.dcso.com.
- 63. See "Neighborhood Watch Survey Form," Douglas County Sheriff's Office, www.dcso.com/nw_form.asp.
- 64. Zell, D., automated publicity e-mail from CitizenObserver.com, July 15, 2009.
- 65. Ritsema, J., personal communication to co-author Elizabeth Biebel Perkins from the Indianapolis Metropolitan Police Department, July 2, 2009.
- 66. Crawford, S.P., "The New Digital Divide," *The New York Times Sunday Review,* December 3, 2011, www.nytimes.com/2011/12/04/opinion/sunday/internet-access-and-the-new-divide.html.
- 67. Zickuhr, K., and A. Smith., "Digital Differences" (Washington, D.C.: Pew Internet & American Life Project, 2012), http://pewinternet.org/Reports/2012/Digital-differences/Overview.aspx.

Providing Online Services

An earlier section of this publication describes the many ways in which police agencies are using the Internet and other modern technologies and networks to deliver information to the public (see "Providing Information to the Community" on page 7). Certainly, delivering information, such as alerts and bulletins, is an important component of providing police services, but it is only one component. Beyond their need for information, citizens engage with the police for other reasons, requesting services that traditionally may have required the dispatch of a patrol officer or a trip to the police station. As such, other types of services that used to require face-to-face contact have been streamlined and are now being delivered electronically.

Filing a report

Perhaps the most commonly available online police service today is the opportunity to file an official report of a crime or other incident. While this might be considered just another aspect of getting information from the public, it is also a direct service because residents often need to file reports for legal or insurance reasons, and in many other situations citizens consider notifying the police their civic responsibility when a crime occurs.

Technologically, administratively, and strategically, online crime reporting would have been unthinkable 30 years ago when the standard police response to any reported crime was to dispatch a patrol officer to the scene to conduct a preliminary investigation and complete a report. Starting in the 1980s, however, many law enforcement agencies began adopting telephone reporting and other differential police response (DPR) alternatives. With these DPR alternatives as a precedent, adding online reporting as one more option was a relatively small step once agencies had fully functional websites.

Needless to say, there are pros and cons associated with taking crime reports over the Internet (or over the phone). Some degree of personal contact between the police and the public is sacrificed, and the chances of introducing inaccurate or even false information into official reports are increased. On the plus side, these forms may be the most convenient option for some citizens, and they undoubtedly provide police agencies labor and cost savings.

To help balance these pros and cons, many agencies give people a choice in how to report crimes, rarely mandating that a crime be reported via the telephone or Internet. Also, agencies normally caution website visitors to call 911 if they are experiencing any kind of emergency, and they typically limit the types of crimes that can be reported online. The Arlington (Texas) Police Department, for example, gives these instructions:

Please confirm the following to find out if online filing is right for you:

- This is not an emergency?
- This incident occurred within the city limits of Arlington?
- There are no known suspects?
- There is no crime currently in progress?²

If these criteria are met, then Arlington residents are invited to file their report online as long as it falls under one of six categories: theft, vehicle burglary, vandalism, identity theft, harassing phone call, and lost property. The Scottsdale (Arizona) Police Department³ has a similar set of criteria for their online reporting system, which offers five incident categories: thefts under \$1,000, stolen bieyeles, shoplifting under \$250, criminal damage under \$2,000, and lost property over \$2,500.4

29 Providing Online Services

Paying a fee or fine

E-commerce is another common service that is now available through many police agency websites. Shopping and making payments online have become routine for many Americans, and making an online payment is certainly quicker than mailing a check and more convenient than having to drive (or take public transportation) to a police station or other government facility. The value of this service is even greater if the payment has to be made to a neighboring or distant agency, as opposed to one's hometown police department.

The most common e-commerce functionality on police websites seems to be for paying parking tickets. Another common option is online payment for permits that the law enforcement agency issues, such as San Diego's <u>alarm permits</u>.⁵ Police e-commerce services are often consolidated within a parent government's website. For example, Newport News, Virginia, offers a "<u>Pay a Parking Ticket</u>" web page on its site, as does Louisville, Kentucky, with its "<u>Violation and Ticketing System</u>" page. And sometimes online payments are made through third-party vendors, as in the case of <u>automated photo-enforcement speeding citations</u>8 in Chevy Chase Village, Maryland.

Police-related e-commerce seems likely to increase in future years for two main reasons. First, e-commerce in general is becoming more common, so anything the public currently pays to the police is liable to migrate to the web. Second, many police agencies are under intense financial pressure, and this pressure is already resulting in the police charging for services that used to be free. As this trend increases, it seems inevitable that online payment for these services will be a common option.

Registration and permits

Some agencies offer various registration and permitting forms online, with or without associated fees. The police department in the Village of Schaumburg, Illinois, for example, accepts bicycle registrations online. And law enforcement agencies enable residents to apply for alarm permits online in Charlotte-Mecklenburg, North Carolina; Plano, Texas; and Lincoln, California. For the most part, however, online application for parade permits and other kinds of special events does not seem common at this time. Rather, applicants often can download the permit form from the police agency website, but they must submit it in hard-copy format by mail or in person. Residents in Minneapolis, however, can register their National Night Out¹¹ event and apply for street/alley closures online or by telephone only, as applications by mail are no longer accepted. 12

Requesting police services

Many police agency websites provide opportunities for residents to request specific police services. While this is not exactly the same as delivering the service itself online, it represents another means by which law enforcement agencies can demonstrate their commitment to customer service and e-government. For example, citizens in San Diego can request extra police patrols at specified locations. Residents of Seminole County, Florida, can make an online request for a sheriff's office representative to attend their event. One of the most common options is allowing residents to request that the police check on their homes while they are on vacation. Examples of these options being offered on agencies' websites include the Ocean City (Maryland) Police Department's Residential Security Check: Registration Form, Security Check: Registration Form, Add Vacation Check, Security Check: Registration Form, California) Police Department's Vacation Check, Request.

Applying for police employment

Another increasingly common feature of law enforcement agency websites is the opportunity for citizens to apply for employment online. For the agency, several benefits of this system include 24-hour access for potential applicants, elimination of logistical barriers such as travel costs (especially for non-local applicants), and automated screening questions that can help eliminate unqualified applicants. More important, young adults today are inclined to look for information online rather than in newspapers, newsletters, or brochures.

Thus, an agency's website is one of its main recruiting mechanisms in the 21st century and provides an excellent platform for using pictures, videos, and text to get the attention of possible future employees and make a good first impression.²¹ Agencies should consider maximizing this recruiting potential by allowing interested persons who have been attracted to the website to apply for employment right there, rather than forcing them to call a phone number or make a trip to a personnel/human resources office to pick up and drop off an application.

The City of Los Angeles accepts online employment applications²² for law enforcement officers, as does Atlanta, Georgia; Prince George's County, Maryland; and Arvada, Colorado.²³ Of course, some agencies are not currently accepting applications due to the financial crises affecting governments, and, as a result, recruiting and competition for applicants are not quite the high priorities they were just 3 to 5 years ago. Whenever the financial situation eases and police hiring resumes, however, those agencies with online recruiting and application processes are likely to have a distinct advantage over agencies still operating with old-fashioned hiring processes. Police agencies can also take advantage of job sites like DiscoverPolicing.org²⁴ to post vacancies and review resumes.

Issues and considerations

So far, use of the web to deliver police services beyond information dissemination has been fairly limited. This is not surprising, as the web and Internet are fundamentally channels of communication and sources of information. Much like the telephone, the web can be used to give someone information, but if that person actually needs direct police assistance, whether to get their neighbors to quiet a loud party or to have a traffic crash investigated, how that police service could literally be delivered electronically is more difficult to imagine.

Core police services related to keeping the peace and enforcing the law traditionally have been, and still are, provided in person, face-to-face. Could this evolve over time? Perhaps. For example, injunctions have been served via Twitter and court orders via Facebook in the United Kingdom, and a civil court summons was served in Australia via Facebook in 2012, all with the court's approval.²⁵ To the extent that modern life becomes more virtual, policing could also become more virtual. Presumably there are limits to this trend, but to assume that virtual policing is merely fantasy or science fiction would be naïve.

See Farmer, M.T., ed., Differential Police Response Strategies (Washington, D.C.: Police Executive Research Forum, 1981); McEwen, J.T., E.F. Connors III, and M.I. Cohen, Evaluation of the Differential Police Responses Field Test (Washington, D.C.: National Institute of Justice, 1986).

[&]quot;Online Citizen Reporting System," City of Arlington, Texas, www.arlingtonpd.org/FileReport/start-report.html.

^{3.} See "Scottsdale Police Department," City of Scottsdale, www.scottsdaleaz.gov/police.

 [&]quot;Scottsdale Police Property Crime Report Form," City of Scottsdale, https://eservices.scottsdaleaz.gov/eservices/crimereport/.

31 Providing Online Services

- See "San Diego Police and Fire-Rescue: Public Safety Permit Payments," City of San Diego, https://pdpermits.sandiego.gov/.
- 6. See "Pay a Parking Ticket," Newport News, www.nngov.com/treasurer/services/pay-a-parking-ticket.
- See "Violation and Ticketing System," City of Louisville, Kentucky, https://vats.municipalcitationsolutions.com/default2.aspx.
- 8. See "Public Inquiry Portal," www.cite-web.com/PublicINQ/default.asp.
- 9. See "Bicycle Registration," Village of Schaumburg, Illinois, www.ci.schaumburg.il.us/Docs/forms/Pages/BicycleRegistration.aspx. See also "Register Your Bicycle with the Dayton Police Department," City of Dayton, Ohio, www.ci.schaumburg.il.us/Docs/forms/Pages/BicycleRegistration.aspx. See also "Register Your Bicycle with the Dayton Police Department," City of Dayton, Ohio, www.ci.schaumburg.il.us/Docs/forms/Pages/BicycleRegistration.aspx.
- See "Alarms," City of Charlotte and Mecklenburg County Government, http://charmeck.org/city/charlotte/CMPD/organization/Support/Alarms/Pages/Home.aspx; "Alarm Permits Online," City of Plano, Texas, https://www.plano.gov/Departments/Police/Alarm%20Permits%20Online/Pages/default.aspx; "Alarm Permit Program," City of Lincoln Alarm Program, https://www.pmam-copsource.com/fams/citizen/city/lincoln/ATB_Login.aspx.
- 11. See "National Night Out," City of Minneapolis, Minnesota, www.ci.minneapolis.mn.us/nno/nno_register.
- 12. "Apply Online," City of Minneapolis, Minnesota, www.ci.minneapolis.mn.us/publicworks/permits/events-management_residential-blockevents_apply.
- 13. See "Citizen Request Form," City of San Diego, www.sandiego.gov/police/forms/citizen-request.shtml.
- See "Community Event Request Form," Seminole County Sheriff's Office, www.seminolesheriff.org/external/CommEventReqFrm.aspx.
- 15. See "Ocean City Police Department," Town of Ocean City, Maryland, http://oceancitymd.gov/police/.
- See "Residential Security Check: Registration Form," Ocean City Police Department, http://oceancitymd.gov/Police/residential_form.html.
- 17. See "Fullerton Police Department," City of Fullerton Police Department, www.ci.fullerton.ca.us/depts/police/default.asp.
- See "Add Vacation Check," City of Fullerton Police Department, https://www.cityoffullerton.com/WebData/apps/pdVacationCheck/default.aspx.
- 19. See "Canby Police Department," www.canbypolice.com.
- See "Vacation Check Request," Canby Police Department, www.canbypolice.com/htmlpage/police_vacation.html.
- 21. See Kentucky State Police, "KSP Targets Cyberspace to Recruit New Troopers," news release, July 29, 2011, www.kentuckystatepolice.org/2011/pr07_29_11.htm; "KSP TV," YouTube, www.youtube.com/user/kentuckystatepolice.
- 22. See "Law Enforcement Officer Preliminary Background Application (PBA) and Job Preview Questionnaire (JPQ)," City of Los Angeles Personnel Department, http://per.lacity.org/psb/lapd_pbq_intro.htm.
- 23. See also "Welcome to the Prince George's County Government's Employment Opportunities Website," Prince George's County, www.princegeorgescountymd.gov/employment/index.asp; "Atlanta Police Department: Recruitment," Formulytics, LLC, https://www.joinatlantapd.org/ApplyNow/default.aspx?tsk=yxilppiyef; "Application Process," City of Arvada, https://arvadapd.org/about-arvadapd/application-instructions.
- 24. See Discover Policing, http://discoverpolicing.org/.
- 25. See Rushton, K., "Legal Claims Can be Served via Facebook, High Court Judge Rules," The Telegraph, February 21, 2012, www.telegraph.co.uk/finance/newsbysector/ mediatechnologyandtelecoms/9095489/Legal-claims-can-be-served-via-Facebook-High-Court-judge-rules.html; Tabakoff, N., "\$400,000 or Rapper Flo Rida in Aussie Hot Water," Herald Sun, September 21, 2012, www.heraldsun.com.au/entertainment/music/or-rapper-flo-rida-in-aussie-hot-water/story-e6frf9hf-1226478697928.

Engaging the Community

Because community engagement is one of the principal components of community policing, law enforcement should consider how websites, the Internet, and other electronic networks might help an agency engage its community more effectively. Earlier discussions about providing information to the community and getting information from the community certainly touched on engagement, such as using the web to solicit information from the public in order to solve specific crimes. More generally, though, law enforcement agencies should consider how electronic media might be used to engage members of the public in policing, crime prevention, and related activities.

Conversation

Some law enforcement agencies use their websites to engage the public in conversation about crime and policing. An example of this at the department level is "The Director's Desk" in Lincoln, Nebraska, formerly called "The Chief's Corner" before the author, Thomas Casady, was promoted from police chief to public safety director in 2011. Since 2007, Casady has authored a blog that is both amusing and informative. Clearly, one of his main objectives is to educate his community about crime and policing issues, but the blog format also encourages readers to post comments and reactions and enables Casady to respond. The end result is not just a news bulletin or an educational lecture (although it can be both), but also a real back-and-forth conversation.

Before blogs became such popular Internet communication forums, e-mail lists and listserves were developed to help connect groups of people online. The Metropolitan Police Department in Washington, D.C., has used e-mail lists since 2004 for two-way communication with the community. The police department currently maintains nine e-mail list groups—one in each of the agency's seven districts, one attached to a district substation, and one to its Special Liaison Unit. The department explains:

The purpose of the police-community Yahoo e-mail discussion groups is to allow police officials an online venue for collecting and sharing information with members of their individual police districts, 7 days a week, 24 hours a day.

The discussion groups aid in:

- increasing awareness,
- reducing crime and the fear of crime, and
- improving community relations.

The method of communication allows residents and officials to communicate back and forth around the clock, which eliminated concerns from previous years of not knowing which tour of duty members could call their local officials to report concerns. Police officials and watch commanders are able to forward alerts for public safety; information about community meetings; changes to staff; and details about upcoming events. The site is also used to connect other city officials with the concerns that can improve the quality of life in local neighborhoods.²

Similarly, the <u>Durham (North Carolina)</u> Police <u>Department</u>³ uses a listserve to help promote community engagement in its Project Safe Neighborhoods initiative:

To aid in information exchange, the Project Safe Neighborhoods group has created this listserve for officers and civilians to discuss violent crime issues and develop solutions. The vision of the Durham Police Department is to connect every community, every block, and every resident (with e-mail) in the City of Durham so that together we may constructively discuss violent crimes and seek solutions.

This listserve should only be used for comments and discussions related to violent crimes, causes, and solutions. While other issues are certainly important, conversation or comments on unrelated issues will make this forum less productive and meaningful to our community.⁴

Blogs, listserves, e-mail lists, discussion boards, chats, and similar venues can give a law enforcement agency the opportunity to converse with many people who otherwise might not come in direct contact with the police. While one-on-one personal contact may still be a more powerful tool, that method only reaches one person at a time. And while a face-to-face community meeting may provide a qualitatively different opportunity to engage in dialogue, not everyone attends community meetings. In today's world, when a lot of human communication occurs electronically, the police would be wise to capitalize on e-media to supplement more traditional forms of police-community interaction.

Partnerships

In the two previous examples, where the police departments in Washington, D.C., and Durham, North Carolina, took steps beyond engaging the community via discussion groups and listserves, they also demonstrate coming together, strengthening partnerships, and solving problems. Police-sponsored e-mail groups and listserves like these at the community level might contribute to partnerships in several ways, such as helping residents become familiar with each other, helping them recognize what they have in common, and helping formative or established groups communicate and coordinate to plan and carry out community initiatives.

Many police departments use their websites to publicize their partnerships and solicit new ones. Two examples are the Seminole County (Florida) Sheriff's Office's "Community Partnerships" web page and the Snohomish County (Washington) Sheriff's Office's "Our Community" page. Agencies like these are making an important, symbolic statement with their websites—they have various partnerships in the community, and they are open and welcoming law enforcement agencies.

The Wheat Ridge (Colorado) Police Department⁹ adds another dimension, identifying several existing community partnerships on its website and providing this statement:

The Wheat Ridge Police Department is always interested in finding new ways to partner with the community. Programs that will enhance the safety of the community in both traditional and innovative ways are always being sought and encouraged. If you are interested in current programs or have ideas about new programs, please contact Sergeant [name and e-mail link provided], or call him at [phone number provided].¹⁰

This statement goes beyond just providing a few feel-good generalities. The department identifies the specific individual who should be contacted by anyone interested in new programs and partnerships and provides two ways to contact him. This sends a clear message about the department's desire to collaborate with everyone in the community.

So-called "partnership-working" has been a key feature of community policing in the United Kingdom for several years, and two national-level websites support local community partnerships directly: National Community Safety Network and CRP (Crime Reduction Partnerships) News. The first site serves as a "community of practice" where anyone involved in community safety can share and find information from all around the country. Because there are community safety partnerships at the local level throughout the United Kingdom, this is an important vehicle to help partnerships learn from one another, including best practices, funding sources, and new developments. The CRP News website, which is privately sponsored by the Association of Business Crime Partnerships, provides current events and news information related to crime and partnerships in the United Kingdom.

On both of these websites, visitors can sign up to receive periodic e-newsletters. This is a key feature for successful information sharing and partnership building because e-newsletter subscribers get more than new information delivered to their Inboxes—they also get a periodic reminder (in the form of a newsletter) that additional valuable information and services are available on the website.

Otherwise, partners and community members would have to remember to visit the website on a regular basis to see whether any new information has been added. Counting on this kind of proactive behavior does not always work well because many people are so busy that they forget to visit more than a small handful of favorite websites on a frequent basis. When websites were a new phenomenon, the mantra "if you build it, they will come" may have been true. Today, however, most successful enterprises find they need to use a variety of methods, such as e-newsletters, text messages, and tweets, to draw people back to their websites.

Preventing crime

One of the main focal areas for community engagement and partnerships is crime prevention. Many law enforcement agencies use their websites to publicize neighborhood watch programs and recruit new members, including the Los Angeles and Madison (Wisconsin) Police Departments. On its website, the San Diego Police Department provides a web page dedicated to describing neighborhood watch plus step-by-step instructions for starting a neighborhood watch program. Because neighborhood watch is such a popular nationwide program, similar information can be found on many other law enforcement agencies' websites.

Some jurisdictions utilize listserves and e-mail groups in conjunction with neighborhood watch to enhance information sharing, not just between the police department and participating residents but also among residents themselves. For example, the South Loop neighborhood¹⁵ in Chicago uses the free service Google Groups¹⁶ for communication among members. The e-mail group is run by the neighborhood watch itself, rather than the police department or the local neighborhood alliance, and emphasizes the value of residents sharing information directly with each other to supplement the bulletins and alerts the police department sends.¹⁷

For example, when a neighborhood resident reports information about a crime or suspicious activity to the department, there is some delay (possibly significant) before the police can send that information back out to neighborhood residents. However, if a resident provides that information to the e-mail group and the police at the same time, it is made available to other residents immediately, possibly enhancing resident safety or increasing the chances that another resident will spot the suspect or see something else of interest.

One of the pioneers in this approach to neighborhood-level information sharing was Lieutenant Lawrence Green of the Oakland (California) Police Department who created an e-mail group in 2002 for the Neighborhood Crime Prevention Councils in the area of his command. Because the police department's website at that time did not provide much crime data, he fed geographically specific crime information to his e-mail group, including information about suspects and wanted persons that the police department was actively looking for.¹⁸

This information and the interaction that took place among police and residents within the lieutenant's e-mail group significantly strengthened community engagement and resident participation in crime prevention activities. The e-mail group provided regular opportunities for Oakland's urban neighborhood-based officers and the citizens in their assigned neighborhoods to interact, albeit electronically, in the traditional manner of small-town police and their constituents.¹⁹

Detecting crime

Traditionally, crime prevention advice to community residents has taken the form of "eyes and ears:" i.e., encouraging people to watch their neighborhoods and other public spaces and call the police if they see anything suspicious. However, thanks to the increased transiency of neighborhood residents, the busy lives that people now lead, and the trend toward backyard decks instead of front porches, the number of neighborly eyes keeping watch on sidewalks, streets, and parks is not what it used to be. At the same time, however, there has been a corresponding increase in electronic eyes: i.e., elosed-circuit television (CCTV) and other forms of surveillance cameras.

The dramatic increase in the use of CCTV technology, coupled with the Internet, creates a potential new way for the public to play the "eyes and ears" role. If live CCTV camera feeds were available for watching on the Internet, people might watch them and spot suspicious activity. Needless to say, several important issues immediately come to mind: e.g., whether the cameras should be focused on public or private places, whether viewers' motives would be strictly altruistic, and whether the quality of video and audio would be good enough to enable viewers to discern the suspicious from the innocent.

The Big Brother scenario in which millions of cameras continuously scan every inch of the earth while millions of people sit at home and watch the cameras is harrowing indeed. By the same token, if a police department could get its constituents to spend time online watching live CCTV camera footage of public spaces that otherwise would go unwatched, as is often the case today, perhaps that increase in "eyes and ears" and community engagement would prove quite beneficial.

Online CCTV monitoring is already a reality. <u>Internet Eyes</u>,²¹ a company in the United Kingdom, has enlisted paid monitors to watch live Internet CCTV footage from retail shops to detect shoplifting and other crimes. Initially, the company planned to include monitoring outside of CCTV as well, but it had to scale back and modify its plans to satisfy privacy concerns and legal requirements overseen by the UK Information Commissioner's Office.²²

While limited, it would be quite a surprise if this initial foray does not get expanded to public CCTV, whether in the United Kingdom or somewhere in the United States. If and when that does happen, law enforcement agencies will probably get some crime detection benefit from electronic "eyes and ears."

The issue, however, will be at what cost to privacy. Agencies will also need to establish guidelines for processing the likely increase in electronic alerts. And only time will tell whether the operational impact on policing will be mainly positive, thanks to more civic-minded community engagement, or whether it will be more negative, similar to the drain on police resources attributable to false alarms.

Social networking

Social networking has been all the rage over the last few years, in many ways pushing Internet websites into the category of yesterday's technology. As of 2012, there are an estimated 850 million Facebook users, 300 million Twitter users, and 120 million LinkedIn users.²³ Many law enforcement agencies have set up Facebook pages and established Twitter accounts, sometimes at the expense of maintaining and updating their websites.

An agency's website, however, is still the most economical place to store detailed and extensive information and provide many services, such as filing a crime report or applying for a job. A balanced approach to e-policing should incorporate both social media and Internet websites. In fact, one of the most important uses of social media can be to attract users to the agency's website. (For more information about police use of social media, see "Providing Information to the Community" on page 7 and "Soliciting Information from the Community" on page 19).

Social media is more interactive and proactive than a website, and its greatest potential lies in social networking. A spokesman for the Hastings Police Station in the United Kingdom demonstrates this in the following comment about Twitter:

The advantages are clear, better engagement with the public. Hastings have over 600 followers, and this grows by about 25 a week at the moment. We get people chatting to us like they would on the street, telling us about things that affect where they live, but also saying they like to feel they can chat to a [police officer]. Twitter is like stopping the "bobby on the beat" for a chat, but the bonus is that he/she doesn't need to be in your street at the time.²⁴

Twitter certainly provides an efficient method for communicating electronically with members of the public, 140 characters at a time. For example, the Arlington (Texas) Police Department has initiated regular Tweet-alongs to simulate in-person ride-alongs, ²⁵ and many agencies are using social media to seek information to solve crimes. ²⁶

Furthermore, each of these mediums have synergistic possibilities. For example, many people forward tweets to all of their followers, and many people use their Facebook page as their personal homepage on the Internet. If they visited their local law enforcement agency's Facebook page and became a "fan" by clicking the "like" button, then that agency's updates will appear on their fans' Facebook pages. This can be a powerful communication tool for the agency specifically because many people regularly visit their Facebook pages (and those of their friends) and often leave their pages open while they are on their computer doing something else. Also, many constituents seem to find a typical Facebook page friendlier and more appealing than a more formal agency website.²⁷

Arguably, the networking value of social media such as Facebook extends beyond just gaining fans and sending updates to them. Disseminating news updates or feature stories from the department's Facebook page may give the information a different flavor and make the agency seem less formal or rigid and more up-to-date. Sometimes the medium is the message.

Also, having fans suggests an element of approval and appreciation that is not often directly expressed to the police department in other settings can remind police personnel of the support they have from the community. When residents or members of a law enforcement agency see how many fans their agency has, that by itself may have a positive effect on their outlook. Finally, Facebook users comprise a kind of virtual community. Thus, when a police department participates, it too becomes a part of that community, which, of course, is a fundamental aspect of community policing.

Another powerful aspect of social media tools is that many people access them from smart phones and other handheld devices. This means information can reach people, and people can send information, not just when they are sitting at home or at work in front of a computer but also when they are out and about in the community (though not while driving).

This creates an opportunity for the police to engage a social network of mobile "eyes and ears." An alert posted on Facebook or sent via Twitter or a text message can reach people who are in a position to be watchful. In principle, a significant portion of the community can be instantly apprised of an emergency situation or, alternatively, notified that an emergency is over. These same people can send information to the police based on what they are seeing—information that might be helpful in assessing the situation and responding effectively. This kind of application might be especially powerful in well-defined settings such as schools, college campuses, and sporting events.²⁸

Using social networking with a different twist, the Court Services and Offender Supervision Agency in Washington, D.C., used podcasts and blogging as methods to publicize a Fugitive Safe Surrender (FSS) campaign in 2007.²⁹ These new media techniques were employed because officials realized that reaching the public via traditional radio, TV, and newspaper publicity had become more difficult. Podcasts, blogs, and other non-traditional media were used to direct fugitives and their family members to the FSS website that explained the program and presented persuasive testimonials. The 3-day blitz succeeded in getting 530 fugitives to surrender.

This example helps emphasize that law enforcement agencies have to be nimble and modern in their use of technology to accomplish a traditional and basic police function effectively: i.e., communicating with the public. At one time, wanted posters tacked to light poles may have been an effective communication method, while another era involved displaying them on the local 6 o'clock TV news that almost everybody watched.

Today, police agencies have to use various communication channels and media to reach the public. Because of the fragmentation of news media since the introduction of cable television and then the explosion in technology and alternative media, figuring out how to reach the public with the right messages may now be more complicated than ever before. But in many ways, the objective of engaging the public has not changed and remains one of the key ingredients of community policing.³⁰

Issues and considerations

Community engagement is a core ingredient of community policing and one that is well-suited for enhancement through use of the web and social media. The more that people "live" on the web, the more it makes sense for police to engage them there. The police should recognize, however, that community engagement is still challenging. Not everyone is online, not everyone is willing to become more active in working with the police for community safety, and many people are so busy that getting their attention, much less their participation, is nearly impossible.

Engaging community residents electronically has some of the same issues and limitations as traditional methods—the subset of the community that becomes engaged may be small, may not represent the entire community, and may represent special interests rather than the general public's.

Also, engaged residents must be aware of legal and practical limits regarding what they can do on behalf of community safety. A police agency has to be careful with the instructions and guidelines it gives to engaged community members and has to be cautious to not raise the public's expectations of police participation beyond what the agency can actually deliver. None of these are reasons to avoid community engagement or limit the use of the web to enhance engagement, but they are realistic considerations that should not be overlooked.

- See The Director's Desk [blog of the public safety director of Lincoln, Nebraska], Blogger, http://lpd304.blogspot.com/.
- "Policy and Guidelines for Email Discussion Groups," Metropolitan Police Department, District of Columbia, http://mpdc.dc.gov/page/policy-and-guidelines-email-discussion-groups.
- 3. See "Durham Police Department," City of Durham, http://durhamnc.gov/ich/op/DPD/Pages/Home.aspx.
- 4. "PSN: E-mail Listserv," City of Durham, http://durhamnc.gov/ich/op/DPD/Pages/PSNlistserv.aspx.
- 5. See "Seminole County Sheriff's Office," www.seminolesheriff.org/external/Main.aspx.
- See "Community Partnerships," Seminole County Sheriff's Office, www.seminolesheriff.org/external/InfoSitePage.aspx?pageID=82.
- 7. See "Snohomish County Sheriff's Office," http://sheriff.snoco.org.
- See "Our Community," Snohomish County Sheriff's Office, http://sheriff.snoco.org/Our_Community/Our_Community.htm.
- 9. See "Police Department," City of Wheat Ridge, www.ci.wheatridge.co.us/index.aspx?NID=205.
- "Community Partnerships," City of Wheat Ridge, www.ci.wheatridge.co.us/index.aspx?nid=244.
- 11. See "National Community Safety Network," www.community-safety.net.
- 12. See "CRP News," www.crp-news.com.
- See "E-Policing," City of Los Angeles, <u>www.lapdonline.org/e_policing</u>; "How to Start a Neighborhood Watch," City of Madison, Wisconsin, <u>www.cityofmadison.com/police/specialunits/neighborhoodWatch.cfm</u>.
- See "Neighborhood Watch," City of San Diego, www.sandiego.gov/police/services/prevention/programs/neighborhoodwatch.shtml.
- See "South Loop Neighborhood Watch," Prairie District Neighborhood Alliance, www.pdnachicago.com/page6.php.
- 16. See "Groups," https://groups.google.com/forum/?fromgroups#!overview. For a similar service, see Yahoo! Groups, http://groups.yahoo.com/.
- 17. See Stanton, S., "Sacramento Area Neighborhoods Go Online to Track Crime," The Sacramento Bee, March 31, 2011, www.sacbee.com/2011/03/31/3516320/sacramento-area-neighborhoods.html.
- "Oakland Police Officer Launches North Oakland Crime Website," KTVU.com, April 17, 2005, www.ktvu.com/news/4387944/detail.html.
- Green, Lawrence, "Oakland Police and Citizen Yahoo Groups," presentation at the National Institute of Justice Annual Conference on Research and Evaluation, Arlington, Virginia, 2008.

 Owen, S.S., and T.W. Burke, "Citizen Monitors, CCTV, and the Internet: A Combination to Consider," The Police Chief 78 (April 2011): 18–26, http://policechiefmagazine.org/magazine/index. cfm?fuseaction=display_arch&article_id=2355&issue_id=42011.

- 21. See "Internet Eyes," http://Interneteyes.co.uk/.
- 22. "Cash Prizes for Catching CCTV Criminals," BBC News, December 4, 2009, http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/ technology/8393602.stm; "CCTV Monitoring Website Launch Delayed by review," BBC News, January 28, 2010, http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/uk_news/8485056.stm.
- Krauss, B.R., "Using Social Media to Market and Promote Public Safety Projects," Issue Brief (Washington, D.C.: Office of Community Oriented Policing Services, July 2012), http://ric-zai-inc.com/Publications/cops-p239-pub.pdf.
- 24. Wilkinson, E., "How Police Forces are Using Twitter to Connect with the Public," The Wall, July 20, 2011, http://wallblog.co.uk/2011/07/20/hastings-police-on-twitter/.
- McCullough, D.R., "2012 COPS Conference Recap: Tweet-Along to Savings and Budget Conscious Alternatives," *Community Policing Dispatch* 5 (September 2012), http://cops.usdoj.gov/html/dispatch/09-2012/Tweet-AlongtoSavings.asp.
- 26. *ConnectedCOPS.net*, "Role of Social Media in Law Enforcement Significant and Growing," news release, July 18, 2012, http://connectedcops.net/2012/07/18/role-social-media-law-enforcement-significant-growing/?goback=.gde_3615914_member_136031188.
- 27. See Stevens, L., "Social Media Quick Tip: 5 Ways to Engage Your Community via Facebook," LawOfficer, August 18, 2011, www.lawofficer.com/article/technology-and-communications/social-media-quick-tip-5-ways; Stevens, L., "Using Social Media," interview by Debra R. Cohen McCullough, The Beat, Office of Community Oriented Policing Services, podcast audio, February 2013, www.cops.usdoj.gov/html/podcasts/the_beat/02-2013/TheBeat-022013_Lauri_Stevens.mp3.
- See Kohl, G., "How Text Messaging Helps Your Security Department," SecurityInfoWatch.com, August 5, 2011, www.securityinfowatch.com/Executives/how-text-messaging-helps-your-security-department.
 See also Managing Major Events: Best Practices from the Field (Washington, D.C.: Police Executive Research Forum, 2011), 35–39, www.policeforum.org/dotAsset/1491727.pdf.
- 29. Sipes, L.A., and Z. Mentel, "Using Social Media to Protect Public Safety," *Community Policing Dispatch* 2 (April 2009), www.cops.usdoj.gov/html/dispatch/April_2009/social_media.htm.
- 30. Stephens, D.W., J. Hill, and S. Greenberg, *Strategic Communication Practices: A Toolkit for Police Executives* (Washington, D.C.: Office of Community Oriented Policing Services, 2011), 38, http://ric-zai-inc.com/Publications/cops-p222-pub.pdf.

Problem Solving

Problem solving through problem-oriented policing—one of the most essential components of community policing—aims to redefine the focus of police work:¹ i.e., to be proactive instead of reactive like "911 policing," which is almost entirely incident-oriented.²

In reactive mode, the police respond to crimes and other crises after they occur, take reports, conduct investigations, and then wait for the next incident to occur. Although police responses and investigations may be professional and efficient, the focus is almost entirely on the symptoms of crime and disorder rather than the causes. The police operate much like emergency room doctors who address each patient's immediate needs and then turn to the next patient.

When the police take a problem-oriented approach, however, they behave more like public health doctors; they look for groups of incidents and patterns of crimes that may be generated by the same underlying condition, and then they try to identify and fix that condition. This may involve focusing on a particular tavern, motel, or convenience store, for example, that seems to generate more than its share of crime and calls for service. Or this method might involve focusing on a broader set of behaviors that are problematic, such as aggressive driving or school truancy.

Besides taking this more proactive and preventive approach, problem-oriented policing also emphasizes that the best solutions often include more than just enforcement. The logic of problem solving requires that problems, once identified, be carefully analyzed. After problems are well understood, then responses are selected that fit the specific nature of the problem to reduce future occurrence.

The analogy of a tool belt applies well; sometimes a hammer is the right tool, but sometimes a screwdriver or pliers or sandpaper or glue is needed. The problem-oriented approach encourages the police to choose the best tool (or tools) for each job, once the circumstances and conditions are well understood. Responses should be customized and tailor-made, not one-size-fits-all.³

Promoting problem solving

One way a police department's website and e-policing strategy can support problem solving is simply by publicizing and promoting it. This is important because a problem-oriented approach to policing takes time and energy. An impatient or ill-informed public might sometimes pressure its police agency for more enforcement or quicker response times to routine calls, either of which could detract from problem-solving efforts that promise greater impact and more effectiveness in the long run.

Naturally, of course, law enforcement agencies have to balance competing demands and explain their strategies to the community. Because problem solving is far less likely to make the front-page or the lead story on the 6 o'clock news than a sensational crime or major arrest, other more proactive methods of conveying problem-solving efforts and accomplishments to the public may be required.

41 Problem Solving

One police department that publicizes its problem-solving activities on its website is <u>Port Washington</u>, <u>Wisconsin</u>.⁴ The police chief's welcome statement emphasizes the agency's commitment to community policing and problem solving:

The Port Washington Police Department is a problem-solving agency. We seek to improve our environment by reducing and/or eliminating opportunities for crime. Our officers engage in [problem-oriented policing] as part of our fundamental mission. We have a talented and dedicated workforce of men and women that pride themselves in customer service. We value the numerous partnerships we have established within our community as a method of sharing responsibility in preventing crime and disorder.⁵

On a <u>separate page</u>,⁶ the department lists its problem-solving projects that have been opened and completed since 2006. The information provided on each project includes the lead officer/employee, location, date, nature and description of the problem, and stage of completion. For example, one project from 2010 pertained to a traffic problem in a school zone:

Due to the re-working of Lincoln Ave. and Portview Dr. to allow traffic to flow all the way to W. Grand Ave. from Portview Dr., there is significantly more traffic that flows eastbound on Lincoln Ave. from Portview Dr. This extra traffic flow, combined with the morning and after school traffic, makes watching speeds in this area a priority during peak times. It was noted that there is no signage posted on Lincoln Ave. near Portview Dr. indicating to drivers that they are approaching a school zone. It was also noted that there is a 15-mph speed sign posted east of the easternmost driveway to the main entrance of Dunwiddie School. It was felt that by the time drivers see this sign, they have already passed the main entrance to the school and were heading away from the school zone. It was proposed that this sign be relocated to the area of Portview Dr. and Lincoln Ave. City Administrator was spoken to regarding this concern and gave the go-ahead to have the Street Department move this sign. The sign was relocated on Lincoln Ave., just east of Portview Dr., prior to the new school year.7

Identifying problems

Using social media and websites to help identify problems is becoming more and more common. To some extent, this approach overlaps with 311 lines, tip lines, and tip sites, all of which are quite common. These traditional tip lines and websites generally solicit information from the public to help solve specific crimes, identify drug dealing locations, and locate wanted persons. A more problem-oriented approach also seeks the public's help in identifying neighborhood problems and conditions that are associated with crime and disorder.

Sometimes these efforts are combined with other city or county services, as in Madison, Wisconsin, where the city's website invites residents to report a problem. The list of problem categories includes erosion control, potholes, and refuse collection, as well as problems that are likely to be referred to the police department, such as abandoned vehicles, graffiti, parking enforcement, and traffic enforcement.

The Madison (Wisconsin) Police Department's web page emphasizes its commitment to community policing and also problem solving:

We are committed to adopting a problem-solving model of policing in which we address the root causes of problems rather than implementing only a quick fix. Members of the department are encouraged to try new and otherwise non-traditional policing methods in working with the community and other government agencies.⁹

The Mesquite (Texas) Police Department¹⁰ is another agency that uses its web page to get the public's help in identifying problems. The department also explains how the problem-solving approach works:

The Mesquite Police Department has designed our [problem-oriented policing] program so that one police supervisor is responsible for each police district within the city. These supervisors coordinate all of the [problem-oriented policing] programs within their particular area. In order to ensure that problems are identified and addressed, they receive crime data for the area and reports from officers who work the area. Of course, they also interact with residents and businesses of the area to get their input. The officers who work that area receive the same information that the supervisor does and provide feedback on programs or problems that need to be addressed. Citizens are encouraged to participate in the process and can provide input either directly to an officer or through the City of Mesquite's website. 11

On a separate page, the police department provides a <u>map of the city</u> divided into nine districts, and residents are encouraged to share information about "possible criminal activity and quality of life issues that the police department can address."¹² The web page goes on to explain that:

Selecting an area of the map and entering information about police-related issues is a way for you to communicate directly with the responsible supervisor and with the patrol officers who work the streets of your area (through the computer in their vehicle). Please provide any information that you think would be helpful to those officers.¹³

As police use of social media expands, it can be expected that Facebook and Twitter will be increasingly used as additional vehicles for soliciting the community's assistance in identifying crime and disorder problems that might deserve concentrated police attention. When combined with smart phones and other handheld devices, these media have the advantage of mobility and immediacy. In fact, police agencies can expect to receive photographs of problems, not just text.

However, website applications will still be desirable as well, as they usually elicit more complete descriptions of problems and can be formatted in a way that solicits specific pieces of information that are beneficial for problem solving. In that vein, perhaps the most useful item is re-contact information, if the reporting person is willing to provide it, so additional information can be requested, so police-public collaboration can be initiated when appropriate, and so the police department can report back to the person about what has been done to resolve the problem.

43 Problem Solving

Collaborating in problem solving

One of the most promising ways that police agencies might use listserves, blogs, and social networking (for more information, see "Engaging the Community" on page 32) is in furtherance of problem solving. Engaged residents can do more than just help the police identify crime and disorder problems; they can help the police understand why problems exist and persist, they can participate in brainstorming for solutions, they can actually be part of the solution in some cases, and, after responses have been implemented, they can help the police determine whether the effort has been successful. These are all well-established roles for the public to play in collaborative problem solving.

The advantages that social networking offers to collaborative problem solving are mainly related to inclusiveness and convenience. In general, holding a series of face-to-face meetings with community residents might be preferable for getting their input and participation in identifying crime and disorder problems, analyzing those problems, searching for tailor-made responses, planning the implementation of those responses, and assessing the impact on the problem once actions are taken.

However, getting people to attend community meetings can be difficult, and sometimes the attendees do not represent the entire community. Engaging residents and partners online may generate broader and more robust participation. However, the police will need to take the lead in organizing and guiding this kind of online discussion and problem solving, or they may be able to hand off those responsibilities to community leaders.¹⁴

Using electronic networks and new media to enhance collaborative problem solving is arguably the most significant contribution that e-policing might make to community policing. A neighborhood-based officer could be part of a virtual network of residents and partners, soliciting and sharing information electronically to identify and solve community problems. Many more residents could have personal (albeit electronic) contact with this beat cop than would likely occur if the officer just walked the beat or rode it on a bicycle. In principle, many more residents could feel engaged with the police, could contribute to community safety, and could be kept informed of successes and challenges.

Issues and considerations

The problem-solving component of community policing has tremendous potential. It is the primary means by which community policing directly tackles crime and disorder in a more thorough and in-depth manner than is usually achieved through traditional reactive policing. In the early years of community policing, critics commonly asked, "Where's the beef?" Problem solving is the beef. It builds on the processes and relationships characteristic of community policing by adding an operational methodology for reducing crime and disorder.

However, some problem solving is too police-centric. If the police identify a community's problems in isolation, they may not identify the problems that actually concern the residents. If the police tackle problems by themselves, they may cause resentment or misunderstanding, they may reinforce the community's dependency on others, and their responses, even if effective, may not be sustainable or even noticed. Thus, problem solving needs to be collaborative in order to build resilience and sustainability and to make sure the right problems are being addressed.

The Internet and social media provide tremendous opportunities for the police to collaborate with the public in problem solving. More and more problems are likely to come to police attention via social media, and these same channels offer a means for the police to get people thinking about problems, underlying conditions, and solutions. One caveat, perhaps, is that most of this electronic communication is of the sound-bite variety. Accomplishing an in-depth analysis of crime and disorder problems, a thorough review of potential options, and a systematic implementation of tailor-made responses—140 characters at a time—may be difficult. But the disconnect between instant gratification and authentic problem solving may be the most challenging hurdle facing community policing in the electronic future.

- 1. Goldstein, H., *Problem-Oriented Policing* (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1990).
- Sparrow, M.K., M.H. Moore, and D.M. Kennedy, Beyond 911: A New Era for Policing (New York: Basic Books, 1990).
- For more information about problem-oriented policing and examples of its application, see the Center for Problem-Oriented Policing, www.popcenter.org.
- 4. See "Port Washington Police Department," http://pwpd.org.
- 5. "Message from the Chief," Port Washington Police Department, http://pwpd.org/about_message.html.
- "Problem-Oriented Policing Initiatives," Port Washington Police Department, http://pwpd.org/reports_statistics_problem.html.
- 7. Ibid
- See "Report a Problem & Service Requests," City of Madison, Wisconsin, https://www.cityofmadison.com/ReportAProblem/.
- See "Chief Wray's Welcome," City of Madison, Wisconsin, www.cityofmadison.com/police/about/welcome.cfm.
- 10. See "Mesquite Police," City of Mesquite, www.cityofmesquite.com/police_web/.
- 11. "Problem Oriented Policing," City of Mesquite, www.cityofmesquite.com/police_web/popprogram.php.
- 12. See "Problem Oriented Policing," City of Mesquite, www.cityofmesquite.com/police_web/pop/index.php.
- 13. Ibid
- 14. This was the experience in Oakland, California, where Lieutenant Lawrence Green started the listserve but was able to hand it off to community crime prevention leaders. It was important for neighborhood officers and area commanders to stay engaged on the listserve, but they did not have to run it.

45 About the COPS Office

About the COPS Office

The Office of Community Oriented Policing Services (COPS Office) is the component of the U.S. Department of Justice responsible for advancing the practice of community policing by the nation's state, local, territory, and tribal law enforcement agencies through information and grant resources.

Community policing is a philosophy that promotes organizational strategies that support the systematic use of partnerships and problem-solving techniques, to proactively address the immediate conditions that give rise to public safety issues such as crime, social disorder, and fear of crime.

Rather than simply responding to crimes once they have been committed, community policing concentrates on preventing crime and eliminating the atmosphere of fear it creates. Earning the trust of the community and making those individuals stakeholders in their own safety enables law enforcement to better understand and address both the needs of the community and the factors that contribute to crime.

The COPS Office awards grants to state, local, territory, and tribal law enforcement agencies to hire and train community policing professionals, acquire and deploy cutting-edge crime fighting technologies, and develop and test innovative policing strategies. COPS Office funding also provides training and technical assistance to community members and local government leaders and all levels of law enforcement. The COPS Office has produced and compiled a broad range of information resources that can help law enforcement better address specific crime and operational issues, and help community leaders better understand how to work cooperatively with their law enforcement agency to reduce crime.

- Since 1994, the COPS Office has invested nearly \$14 billion to add community policing officers to the nation's streets, enhance crime fighting technology, support crime prevention initiatives, and provide training and technical assistance to help advance community policing.
- By the end of FY2012, the COPS Office has funded approximately 124,000 additional officers to more than 13,000 of the nation's 18,000 law enforcement agencies across the country in small and large jurisdictions alike.
- Nearly 700,000 law enforcement personnel, community members, and government leaders have been trained through COPS Office-funded training organizations.
- As of 2012, the COPS Office has distributed more than 8.5 million topic-specific publications, training curricula, white papers, and resource CDs.

COPS Office resources, covering a wide breadth of community policing topics—from school and campus safety to gang violence—are available, at no cost, through its online Resource Center at www.cops.usdoj.gov. This easy-to-navigate website is also the grant application portal, providing access to online application forms.

E-COP: Using the Web to Enhance Community Oriented Policing highlights those technologies that are changing the way police are engaging with communities and delivering services. The pace with which electronic and digital technology have permeated modern policing has been remarkable. Some digital technology has miniaturized what law enforcement agencies already do, as in the case of police radios, or has sped up what they do, thanks to computers. More significant are those technologies that have allowed and encouraged police departments to revise their organizational strategies, policies, and routines. This intentionally brief publication illustrates some of the ways in which e-policing can support and enhance community policing. From tweeting with the community to soliciting information from online anonymous tip sites, the police are using the Internet, websites, and other digital technologies to enhance their community policing efforts. While police officers will probably still have to handle calls, investigate crimes, make arrests, and otherwise represent police authority in person, the domain of e-policing is rapidly expanding. The potential benefits of the Internet and social networking for enhancing community policing are only just beginning to be realized.



U.S. Department of Justice Office of Community Oriented Policing Services 145 N Street, N.E. Washington, DC 20530

To obtain details on COPS Office programs, call the COPS Office Response Center at 800.421.6770.

Visit COPS Online at www.cops.usdoj.gov.